## Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

**Masters Theses** 

Graduate College

12-2015

## Expression of Insulin Responsive Genes in Insulin Resistant Conditions, and the Effect of Selenium on Gene Expression

David L. Ruff Western Michigan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters\_theses

Part of the Biochemistry Commons, Biology Commons, and the Genetics and Genomics Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Ruff, David L., "Expression of Insulin Responsive Genes in Insulin Resistant Conditions, and the Effect of Selenium on Gene Expression" (2015). *Masters Theses.* 670. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/masters\_theses/670

This Masters Thesis-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.





# EXPRESSION OF INSULIN RESPONSIVE GENES IN INSULIN RESISTANT CONDITIONS, AND THE EFFECT OF SELENIUM ON GENE EXPRESSION

by

David L. Ruff, II

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Collage in partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of Master of Science Biology Western Michigan University December 2015

Thesis Committee:

Susan Stapleton, Ph.D., Chair David Reinhold, Ph.D Bruce Bejcek, Ph.D

# EXPRESSION OF INSULIN RESPONSIVE GENES IN INSULIN RESISTANT CONDITIONS, AND THE EFFECT OF SELENIUM ON GENE EXPRESSION

David L. Ruff II, M.S.

Western Michigan University, 2015

Chronically high blood glucose levels lead to many problems, such as insulin resistance, the hallmark of Type II diabetes. Increased flux through the hexosamine biosynthesis pathway is one mechanism by which high glucose as well as glucosamine has been shown to induce insulin resistance. This study tests the effects of glucosamine induced insulin resistance on insulin regulation of the metabolic genes glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) and fatty acid synthase (FAS) as well as insulin responsive proteins tribbles homolog (TRIB3) and sterol regulatory element binding protein (SERBP-1c) 1c.

Selenium, a micronutrient has been shown to be an effective insulin mimetic in Type I diabetics, however its effectiveness has not been tested under Type II diabetic conditions. Thus we also assessed the ability of Se to act as an insulin mimetic agent under glucosamine induced insulin resistance.

In summary, our results show that glucosamine effects the insulin induction of the genes tested. The effect of Se, however was variable and is suggestive of different mechanisms by which it modulates gene expression.

Copyright by David L. Ruff II 2015

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would first like to thank my advisor and friend Dr Susan Stapleton for allowing me the opportunity to work in her laboratory. I will take the lessons that I learned here with me throughout the rest of my life. I would also like to thank each lab mate that I have worked with over the years: Daryl Arkwright-Keeler, Sandhya Nair, Sylvie Coulibaly, Jean Hsiao, Deepti Goel, Kalan McPherson, Pramod Thekkat, Shruti Sevak, Stephen Ouellette, Derek Porritt, Jafar Hachem, Rasha Gomaa. I have learned so much from each of you.

Further, I would like to thank my committee members Dr. David Reinhold and Dr. Bruce Bejcek for their advice and support over the years. They and so many others in the WMU community who are too numerous to name, were pivotal to my success here at WMU.

I owe a special thanks my parents David and Eileen Ruff for their undying support, encouragement over the years as well as my siblings Natalie and Mickael Moore Eunice and Dwayne Duncombe. To all the family, friends who have supported, encouraged advised and prayed for me over the years this completion belongs to you as well.

To God Be the glory! Great things He has done!

David L. Ruff II

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS		
LIST OF TABLES		
LIST OF FIGURES		
CHAPTER		
I. Introduction	1	
Metabolism	1	
Diabetes	2	
Complications of Diabetes	2	
History of Discovery	3	
A New Era	4	
Insulin Action	5	
The Insulin Signaling Cascade	7	
Selenium, an Insulin Mimetic	10	
Glucose Uptake and Metabolism in the liver	11	
Glucose Homeostasis	11	
The Hexosamine Biosynthesis Pathway	13	
Discovery	13	
Nutrient Sensing Role of the HBP	15	
Glucosamine	16	

## Table of Contents Continued

## CHAPTER

	Insulin Responsive Proteins	17
	Tribbles 3	18
	Sterol Regulatory Element Binding Protein-1c	19
	Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase	21
	Fatty Acid Synthesis	22
	Objectives of Study	23
II.	Materials and Methods	24
	Treatment	24
	Harvest and Isolation of Cellular mRNA	25
	Amplification	25
	Quantitative Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction (RTPCR)	26
	Statistical Analysis	27
III.	Results	28
	Effect of Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance on Insulin Mediated G6PDH Gene Expression	29
	Glucosamine Suppresses Insulin Mediated Expression of G6PDH	29

## Table of Contents Continued

## CHAPTER

	Effect of Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance on Insulin Mediated FAS Gene Expression	31
	Effect of Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance on Insulin Mediated SREBP-1c Gene Expression	32
	Effect of Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance on Insulin Mediated TRIB3 Gene Expression	35
	Effect of Selenium on G6PDH Expression	37
	Effect of Selenium on FAS Expression	38
	Effect of Selenium on SREBP-1c Expression	39
	Effect of Selenium on TRIB3 Expression	40
IV. D	iscussion	42
	The Insulin Mediated Gene Expression	43
	Effect of Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance on Gene Expression	46
	The Effect of Se on the Expression of Insulin Responsive Genes	53
	Summary	56
APPEN	APPENDIX	
	IACUC Approval Form	57
BIBLIOGRAPHY		58

### LIST OF TABLES

1.	List of oligonucleotide primers	27
2.	Summary of results of insulin on gene expression	36
3.	Summary of results of Se on gene expression	41

## LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Diagram of insulin signaling	7
2.	Diagram of the hexosamine biosynthesis pathway	13
3.	Insulin mediated expression of G6PDH in the presence of glucosamine	29
4.	Insulin mediated expression of FAS in the presence of glucosamine	31
5.	Insulin mediated expression of SREBP-1c in the presence of glucosamine	32
6.	Insulin mediated expression of TRIB3 in the presence of glucosamine	35
7.	Insulin and Se mediated expression of G6PDH	37
8.	Insulin and Se mediated expression of FAS	38
9.	Insulin and Se mediated expression of SREBP-1c	39
10.	Insulin and Se mediated expression of TRIB3	40

#### I. Introduction

#### <u>Metabolism</u>

Over the years, advancements in the study of metabolism have allowed us to increase life span and quality of life. Integral to the enhancement of our overall well being is the ability to confront and treat diseases, such as diabetes, that influence the utilization and production of nutrient resources. As a result of the study of metabolism, the understanding of how a properly working system provides energy for life's defining processes has increased. This knowledge has provided us with numerous benefits and is crucial to our well being.

When metabolism works as it should, each organ performs a specific role that is necessary for maintaining homeostasis. At the cellular level, carbohydrates, such as glucose, along with fatty acids provide energy to drive the body's processes or can be stored for later use. Prompted by newly available nutrients, the body's cells begin to produce proteins that can maximize the body's energy return. Proteins catalyze reactions and perform tasks that provide resources for the body.

Production of proteins utilizes significant amounts of resources and must be vigorously controlled (Neufeld & Arsham, 2010). One mechanism for control regulates mRNA transcription. Specifically, this mechanism allows for control over the types of proteins that are produced and for the timing of their production. In the presence of nutrients, production of mRNA for proteins such as phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK), which are active during starvation conditions, is decreased. Also, in nutrient rich conditions, proteins such as glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) that are

1

needed for nutrient metabolism are produced in greater quantity. When metabolism does not function optimally, the mechanisms that control mRNA transcription receive mistimed or inappropriate signals. The result of these changes in cellular signals leads to the collapse of many cellular systems, which will eventually lead to the manifestation of many diseases such as diabetes.

#### **Diabetes**

There are two major types of diabetes: Type I, or insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, and Type II, or insulin-independent diabetes mellitus. Type I diabetes occurs when insulin is not produced in sufficient quantities to perform its function. As a result, insulin is unable to exert control over proteins that mediate the uptake and metabolism of nutrients from the blood stream. Type II diabetes is signified by insulin resistance. Though insulin is still produced, it is no longer able to initiate the network of proteins involved in metabolism in insulin-sensitive tissues. As a result of insulin resistance, there is a marked increase in the concentration of carbohydrates and fatty acids in the blood stream. If left unchecked, this condition will develop into Type II diabetes.

The discovery of insulin in 1921 (Banting, Best, Collip, Campbell, & Fletcher, 1922) was a key step in treating both Type I and II diabetes and began a gradual uncovering of the extensive reach and complexity of proteins under insulin control. Proteins within insulin's signaling network take part in multiple aspects of metabolism and a myriad of cellular functions. Insulin exerts control over metabolic proteins through many different mechanisms including those involved in transcription. It has been suggested that insulin modulates the expression of over 800 proteins in the human skeletal muscle alone (Rome et al., 2003). Because of insulin's enormous influence, it is easy to see how resistance to insulin action could have a devastating effect and result in many deleterious complications.

#### **Complications of Diabetes**

The pains of diabetes are felt on the individual and societal levels. According to the Centers for Disease Control (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC],

2011), in 2010 there was an estimated 1.9 million new cases of diabetes here in the United States alone. According to a 2014 report by the CDC, that number increased by 1.7 million in 2012 alone (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2014). The World Health Organization estimates that as of August 2012, approximately 29.1 million people in the United States have developed diabetes. In the coming years, the number of new cases is expected to grow at alarming rates.

Unless insulin resistance is properly managed, life-threatening complications of the disease such as kidney failure and heart disease will occur. Other complications associated with the disease such as lower limb amputations and blindness will add to the debilitating condition of an affected individual. Although other disease states can cause these complications, diabetes is by far the leading cause of all of these ailments in the United States (CDC, 2011). Ultimately, diabetes is a leading cause of death in the United States and, in this way, affects everyone (CDC, 2014).

The pains of diabetes are not only felt by disease victims or close relatives but are also felt in the economic strain diabetes places on society as a whole. In 2007 alone, \$174 billion dollars were spent on diabetes and related issues (CDC, 2011). This cost has continued to grow since then and will continue to rise (Yang, Dall, Halder, Kowal, & Hogan, 2013). In 2012, the direct and indirect costs of diabetes in the United States reached 245 billion dollars (CDC, 2014). Climbing costs, sharp increases in the number of affected individuals, and the devastating effect of the complications associated with the disease are reasons why important new advances in the study of diabetes are imperative to our health and welfare.

#### History of Discovery

People over the ages have studied diabetes and its complications in an effort to understand its causes and how to deal with it. These studies led to a greater understanding of the disease. Discoveries from these efforts, which are reviewed by Awad Ahmed (Ahmed, 2002), eventually led to a greater understanding of insulin and the key role it plays in regulating the integration of nutrients into the body. The earliest available evidence of systematic studies of the disease came from documents found in archeological excavations of Egyptian burial sites revealing early Egyptian doctors' detailed descriptions of many diseases (Ebbers, 1937). The discovery of these ancient documents marks the known beginning of what modern scientists have built upon to give us the knowledge of diabetes and its symptoms that we have today.

Before we knew what we know today, the onset of the disease was essentially a death sentence. Victims of the disease could expect to live short lives that were full of pain and agony. However, there were several discoveries over the years that changed our understanding and provided hope for those who were suffering.

One important discovery came when scientists realized that the problem originated from sugar that had not been properly incorporated from the bloodstream after a meal (Dobson, 1776). Important discoveries by Claude Bernard, reviewed by Young, helped to clarify the role of the liver and chronically high amounts of glucose in the bloodstream with his discovery of glycogen (Young, 1957). Building on the idea of poorly integrated nutrients, medical practitioners and researchers found some success in treating diabetes by restricting carbohydrate consumption (Rollo, 1798), thus reducing the amount of glucose that would be present in the blood stream as a result of digestion. This concept was the beginning of the employment of dietary modifications that are still useful today.

By the mid to late 1800s, scientists began to understand that a substance secreted from the pancreas, or "pancreatic juice" (Allen, 1913) had an unknown yet significant part to play in sugar metabolism. Minkowski and Von Mering (1889) would establish a firm connection between diabetes and pancreatic pathology in their experiments which showed that removal of the pancreas led to diabetes in dogs. This discovery helped the medical community usher in a new era in diabetes research.

#### A New Era

The next century saw the isolation of a substance within the "pancreatic juice," which came to be known as insulin. Insulin was isolated and purified by Fredrick Grant Banting and Charles Herbert Best with the help of James Collip in 1921 (Banting, Best, Collip, Campbell, & Fletcher, 1922). The discovery that this insulin could be used to reduce blood glucose levels in humans and treat diabetes brought on the beginning of the insulin era. With this discovery, a new problem arose, and that was that not all people

suffering from diabetes responded to insulin in the same way. This observation led to the characterization of Type I and Type II diabetes by Dr. Harold P. Himsworth (Himsworth, 1936).

Himsworth noted that for a good number of those suffering from diabetes, it was not the concentration of insulin within the system or the lack thereof that was the primary contributing factor to the disease pathology but the ability to respond to the insulin that was present. Himsworth's work was verified by the work of Rosalyn Yalow and Solomon Berson, who in 1959–1960, discovered how to quantify the amount of insulin in a biological system (B. R. S. Yalow & Berson, 1960; R. S. Yalow, Glick, Roth, & Berson, 1965). In addition to verifying the observations of Himsworth, Yalow and Berson's discovery provided a method for doctors to scientifically differentiate between patients suffering from Type I and Type II diabetes, and to alert patients of abnormal insulin levels.

In 1984, Borgardus et al. compared insulin secretion and insulin action in nondiabetic and noninsulin-dependent diabetic subjects. Borgardus and associates observed that in the diabetic patients, the presence of insulin released by the pancreas was not able to efficiently change the plasma glucose concentration over time as it was able to do in the nondiabetic patients. He noted that as diabetes progressed, the hyperglycemia that was experienced resulted from both decreased insulin action as well as decreased peripheral insulin concentrations (Bogardus et al., 1984). This work helped to spark interest in the activity of insulin and its direct effect on insulin-responsive tissues.

#### Insulin Action

Discussion in the field arose concerning the mechanism that insulin used to cause the uptake of glucose from the blood stream. Some believed that the effect of insulin came from its acting directly on the metabolic enzymes that were responsible for the breakdown of glucose (Levine et al., 1950). This idea seemed to be supported by the finding that, in rats, insulin increased the activity of proteins called hexokinases (Price, et. al. 1945). These are enzymes which modify other molecules by the addition of phosphate groups, in this case, to glucose. Rachmiel Levine and associates designed an experiment to test whether insulin acted directly on the metabolic enzymes to increase the breakdown of glucose or if there was another explanation for insulin's effect (Levine, et. al., 1950). Levine treated several dogs with galactose, a molecule that is structurally similar to glucose and is transported into cells in response to insulin. Two hours after these treatments, the dogs were treated with insulin, and the amount of galactose left in the bloodstream was measured and compared to the amount of glucose in the blood stream. Galactose is changed to glucose in the liver, kidneys and digestive tract, which can be converted to glucose-6-phosphate by hexokinases. Levine and associates removed these organs from their test subjects, to avoid any transformation of galactose by its interaction with metabolic enzymes, and injected galactose directly into the dogs' bloodstream.

They found that in the absence of insulin treatments, galactose concentration initially decreased slightly and then remained at a relatively constant level in the bloodstream. However, galactose was taken up by the tissues and its concentration in the bloodstream dropped abruptly after treating the animals with insulin. However, the structural molecule remained unchanged (Levine, et. al., 1950), which showed that insulin's primary mode of action was to stimulate the uptake of galactose and that this action was not limited by metabolism of galactose. Levine then deduced that the effect of insulin on glucose, which is so structurally similar to galactose, should not be much different and that there must be another explanation for insulin's blood glucose lowering ability other than the direct activity of insulin on metabolic proteins. Over time Levine began to turn his attention to the possibility of an external receptor as insulin's point of activation. The Insulin Signaling Cascade



Figure 1. **Diagram of insulin signaling.** The insulin mediated signal is propagated along a protein cascade to regulate protein transcription.

Gradually, discoveries were made that substantiated Levine's idea of an insulin receptor, and the beginning of our knowledge of the insulin signaling pathway began to unfold (figure 1). Evidence began to show that there, in fact, was an insulin receptor which is a dimer comprised of two alpha and beta subunits. The insulin receptor was also found to be the start of a chain of proteins, now known as the insulin signal cascade, that undergoes phosphorylation (Petruzzelli et al., 1982). This chain of proteins leads to insulin's effect on metabolism and uptake of glucose.

Attention then turned to the activity of these signal proteins downstream of the receptor. In 1985, the insulin receptor substrate (IRS), a protein that interacts with the insulin receptor, was discovered by Morris White (White, 1985). Characterization of IRS1 followed shortly thereafter in 1991 (Keller, 1991). Research continued, and an intricate web of proteins downstream of IRS1 slowly began to emerge. Combined discoveries from several labs, including those of Lewis Cantley and his associates, and Yoshikazu Sugimoto et al., added the next piece to the puzzle. Through their work they were able to establish phosphotidal inositol-3,4,5-P3 (PIP3) as an important affecter of insulin action (Cantley, 2007) (Sugimoto, et. al., 1984).

Pulling together discoveries from several areas of interest, Malcolm Whitman et al. went on to describe how PIP3 was phosphorylated, identifying phosphotidal-inositol 3 kinase (PI3K) as its phosphorylating protein (Whitman et. al., 1988). This discovery was supported by the work of Neil Ruderman et al., who showed that insulin increased PIP3's abundance, and that PI3-K could be co-precipitated with antibodies specific for the insulin receptor (Ruderman, Kapeller, Whites, & Cantley, 1990). These findings demonstrated that insulin was indeed involved with the activation of PI3K and that this activation was a direct effect of PI3K's association with the insulin receptor.

In 1992, Jonathan Backer et al. shed more light on the activation of PI3K. His work showed that, when IRS1 was overexpressed, the activation of PI3K was increased in the presence of insulin (Backer et al., 1992). Additionally, Backer showed that tyrosyl phosphorylation of IRS1 was crucial for PI3K activation, and identified the region of interaction between the two proteins.

With the discovery of the association of PI3K to insulin stimulation, members of a research team at Eli Lilly laboratories began working on research tools that would allow them to probe its function more closely. In 1994, they published a paper characterizing an inhibitor, 2-(4-Morpholinyl)-8-phenyl-4H-1-benzopyran-4-one (LY294002), that proved to be a successful and specific inhibitor of PI3K in primary cell lines (Vlahos, Matter, Hui, & Brown, 1994). The use of this and other inhibitors such as wortmannin, another inhibitor of PI3K, were invaluable tools that helped to provide a greater understanding of the insulin initiated cellular response.

As a result of utilizing the PI3K inhibitors and a myriad of other useful tools that have been discovered over the years, we learned that there are three major branches within insulin's web of proteins that are used to mediate insulin's response. These branches, shown in fig.1, make up distinct but overlapping signaling pathways that can specialize in function. The branches are the MAPK, Cbl/Grb and PI3K/AKT pathways. Cell survival and response to stress is maintained through the MAPK pathway. Translocation of glucose transporters to the plasma membrane are mediated through the interaction of the insulin receptor and Casitas B-lineage (Cbl) protein and adapter protein with pleckstrin homology and Src homology 2 domains (APS) to affect the translocation of glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) in muscle (Chang, Chiang, & Saltiel, 2004) and GLUT2 in liver. Insulin-mediated metabolism mainly occurs through the PI3K pathway.

While each branch of the insulin signaling cascade specializes in a particular capacity, some of the functions of these pathways overlap to provide alternate routes for the flow of signals, creating a more robust system for cellular function. For example, the PI3K pathway also has an important role in cell survival, proliferation (Datta et al., 1997) and translocation of glucose transporter proteins to the cellular membrane (Calera et al., 1998).

Following the discovery of PI3K, protein kinase B (PKB), also known as AKT, was shown to be a part of the insulin signaling cascade by two labs in 1995 (Franke et al., 1995; Burgering & Coffer, 1995). AKT is a significant branch point for numerous pathways that are responsible for everything from metabolism to cell proliferation and survival. Anna Klippel and associates described the activation of AKT activation by PIP3 in response to PI3K in a cell free system in 1997 (Klippel, Kavanaugh, Pot, & Williams, 1997).

AKT is recruited by PI3K and is phosphorylated by PDK 1 and 2, on residues 309 and Ser 474 respectively (Meier & Hemmings, 1999; Hemmings & Restuccia, 2012). AKT then phosphorylates a myriad of other proteins responsible for a variety of functions, including insulin secretion, cell survival and the transcription of metabolic genes (Chang et al., 2004; Fayard, Tintignac, Baudry, & Hemmings, 2005).

Downstream of AKT are many other proteins such as glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3). GSK3 is mainly known for its role in phosphorylating glycogen synthase but has also been shown to regulate at least 40 different proteins involved in numerous cellular functions (Jope & Johnson, 2004). The role of insulin in regulating GSK3 was characterized when scientists showed GSK3 to be inactivated in hamster ovary cells in response to the overexpression of the insulin receptors (Welsh & Proud, 1993). Other researchers established that insulin no longer had the ability to cause the inactivation of GSK3 in the presence of wortmannin (Cross et al., 1994).

Regulation of proteins such as GSK3 and AKT is key because it modulates the transcription of insulin-responsive proteins. For example, AKT regulates the transcription of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma co-activator 1alpha (PGC-1a), both

directly by inhibitiing of PGC-1a's transcriptional activity (X. Li, Monks, Ge, & Birnbaum, 2007) and indirectly by AKT's phosphorylation of GSK3 (Bhalla et al., 2011). GSK3 also modulates the transcription of genes involved in gluconeogenesis such as PEPCK, and for genes involved in fatty acid metabolism like FAS (Bhalla et al., 2011). Loss of insulin sensitivity alters the propagation of the insulin signal to proteins such as AKT and effects transcription of metabolic genes (Michael et al., 2000).

Through the years, the development of insulin treatment for diabetics has saved the lives of many. Yet, treatment of diabetes with insulin is not without its pitfalls. Some individuals may experience debilitating complications as a result of problems with insulin treatment (Richardson & Kerr, 2003). At times, patients are required to switch between insulin types due to issues with sensitivity. Treatments that can aid in or potentially replace the use of insulin are crucial to explore and discover.

#### Selenium, an Insulin Mimetic

Selenium (Se) is a trace mineral and is a cofactor for several genes (Rayman, 2000), including those involved in glucose and lipid metabolism (Stapleton, 2000) and immune response. In 1990, Osama Ezaki was the first to show that Se could mimic the action of insulin in rat adipocytes (Ezaki, 1990). His experiments showed that 100µM Se was equivalent to 1nM insulin in the stimulation of glucose uptake, the increase of cAMP phosphodiesterase activity (Ezaki, 1990) and the reduction of the activity of cAMP responsive pathways. Other insulin-mimicking traits of Se include the ability to lower lipid levels and to restore transcriptional responses of metabolic proteins to, or close to, prediabetic levels in whole animals (Berg, Wu, Campbell, Kagey, & Stapleton, 1995; Becker et al., 1996).

Rats and mice with streptozotocin induced diabetes experienced several restored markers of insulin sensitivity including increased glucose uptake, weight gain and lowering of blood glucose following Se treatment (McNeill, Delgatty L.M., & Battell, 1991; Ghosh, Mukherjee, & Chatterjee, 1994). In addition to these markers, Se was also shown to behave like insulin in the metabolism of cholesterol and free fatty acids by reducing abdominal fat, cholesterol and adiponectin levels (J. E. Kim et al., 2012). The insulin-like effect of Se has been attributed to increased phosphorylation of key signaling proteins within various branches of the insulin signaling network, including enhanced phosphorylation of the insulin receptor (Pillay & Makgoba, 1992) and IRS-1 (Ezaki, 1990; McNeill et al., 1991). Studies from our lab and others have shown several key proteins, such as AKT and MAPK, experience increased phosphorylation levels as a result of Se treatment in hepatocytes (Stapleton, Garlock, Foellmi-Adams, & Kletzien, 1997) and adipocytes (Hei, Farahbakhshian, Chen, Battell, & McNeill, 1998).

Se can be seen in nature in several forms: selenate, selenite, and selenide. Of the three, selenate has a faster and more straightforward rate of incorporation by enzymes and biological proteins (Mueller & Pallauf, 2006). In comparison, studies done in db/db mice between selenite and selenate, found that selenate resulted in increased glucose up-take and metabolism (Mueller & Pallauf, 2006).

#### Glucose Uptake and Metabolism in the Liver

The liver is essential to regulating the nutritional status of the body (Bémeur, Desjardins, & Butterworth, 2010). Its cells serve as nutritional reservoirs during fasting, or between meals, and are responsible for recycling carbohydrates and processing lipids. Nutrients that are stored in the liver are released into the blood stream and are available for other organs of the body during fasting and in the absence of insulin (Sherwin, 1980). The presence of insulin at its hepatic receptor site initiates the propagation of a signaling phosphorylation cascade that has influence over cellular activity, including the transcription of genes. Genes transcribed as a result of insulin's signal are incorporated into metabolic pathways that utilize nutrients such as glucose to provide building blocks for the cell (Wilcox, 2005).

#### **Glucose Homeostasis**

Glucose enters cells of the liver through a transporter protein that has a high capacity for glucose uptake from the bloodstream under physiological conditions. GLUT2, the dominant glucose transporter protein in the liver, does not depend on an ATP-driven system in order to allow glucose uptake (Gould & Holman, 1993); however, GLUT2 expression is modulated by diet (Miyamoto et al., 1993). Glucose molecules are retained within the cell by the addition of a phosphate molecule added by glucokinase.

Once glucose enters the cell, it is shuttled to several different metabolic pathways where it functions as a substrate for enzymatic reactions. Propagation of glucose as a substrate is controlled by several rate limiting factors. These factors include the availability of other substrates, the activity and availability of enzymes in the pathway and the needs of the cell at the time (Thomas & Fell, 1998). Changes in propagation brought on by decreases in insulin sensitivity disrupt the balance of byproducts produced by each pathway and result in deleterious effects.

Each pathway is orchestrated to provide for the timely production of byproducts that are vital for the life of the cell. For example, the glycogen and gluconeogenesis pathways provide a way that glucose can be available to produce energy during fasting. Glycolysis provides pyruvate, an important precursor involved in ATP production in the citric acid cycle. Glycolysis also provides substrates for several other metabolic pathways, such as glycogen and fatty acid synthesis, the making of several amino acids and the hexosamine biosynthesis pathway (HBP).

The HBP is a subsidiary pathway of glycolysis and metabolizes 3 to 5% of all cellular glucose molecules. The HBP is an active pathway in many different cell types but is especially active in the liver (Holts & Hart, 1986). Many proteins, including metabolic enzymes, are post-translationally modified as a result of the propagation of substrates through the HBP (Holts & Hart, 1986).

While the consequences of propagation through most metabolic pathways have been studied and are fairly defined, the effect of flux through the HBP is not as well understood. However, as a result of several recent studies, we have progressively begun to understand the impact that the HBP has on the body's insulin response mechanisms (W. Timothy Garvey, Olefsky, Matthaeig, & Marshall, 1987). By utilizing methods that have been shown to change the rate of flux through the HBP, we can gain a greater understanding of what this pathway does in the liver (Lombardi et al., 2012; Rossetti, Hawkins, Chen, Gindi, & Barzilai, 1995).

12

#### The Hexosamine Biosynthesis Pathway

Increased propagation of substrates through the HBP, outlined in figure 2, has been shown to have an effect on the insulin signaling cascade (Marshall, Bacote, & Traxinger, 1991). This increase occurs when glucose levels remain high for an extended period, creating a toxic condition in the blood stream. Chronically high glucose levels result in an inability of insulin to direct changes in carbohydrate metabolism and enzyme activity (Fujimoto, Torres, Donahue, & Shiota, 2006). As blood glucose increases to toxic levels, adjustments to regulate the amount of glucose being transported, retained and metabolized by insulin-responsive tissues have to be made. When the amount of glucose remains high in the blood stream, the adjustments of the cell can result in insulin resistance. Some of these adjustments come as a result of increased flux through the HBP (Marshall et al., 1991).



Figure 2. **Diagram of the hexosamine biosynthesis pathway** (Used by permission of the author) (Laczy et al., 2009)

#### Discovery

Evidence that the HBP is part of the mechanism that regulates nutrient uptake and could lead to insulin resistance began with observations from experiments done in the 1980s. W. Timothy Garvey and colleagues noted that a reduction of glucose transporter translocation and activity in the plasma membrane could be used as a valid marker of insulin resistance in adipose tissue (W T Garvey, Huecksteadt, Matthaei, & Olefsky, 1988).

Physiologically high levels of glucose and insulin were initially investigated as agents that were involved in the onset of insulin resistance (W Timothy Garvey et al., 1987). In a paper published in 1989, Traxinger & Marshall showed that neither high concentrations of insulin or glucose alone could bring about the insulin resistant response observed in the glucose transport system (R Roger Traxinger & Marshall, 1989a). However, it is important to note that the desensitization came about because of concurrently and chronically high levels of glucose and insulin (W T Garvey et al., 1988). When either glucose or insulin was present by itself, an insulin resistant state was not fully achieved.

Upon examining the growth media used to culture their cells, a third and essential component was identified. Researchers observed that when growth media that did not contain amino acids was used, insulin resistance was not achieved. After experimenting with several different combinations, it was discovered that L-glutamine was the necessary amino acid that worked in combination with glucose and insulin to produce insulin resistance. This requirement was shown to be specific, as treatment with metabolites or derivatives of L-glutamine did not achieve insulin resistance (Roger R. Traxinger & Marshall, 1989b).

Marshall et al. noted that two of the components that are necessary for insulin resistance, glucose and glutamine, are both necessary for producing HBP byproducts (Marshall et al., 1991). Glutamine serves as a donor for the amine group that is transferred by glutamine:fructose-6-phosphate amidotransferase to fructose-6-phosphate to produce the glucosamine group on glucosamine-6-phosphate, the pathway's rate limiting step (Hassel P, Kimura, & Hascal, 1986).

Synthesis of hexosamine byproducts, as outlined in diagram 2, begins with the phosphorylation of glucose by glucokinases to produce glucose-6-phosphate, which is then converted to fructose-6-phosphate (F-6-P) by phosphoglucoseisomerase. F-6-P then enters the HBP and is converted to glucosamine-6-phosphate by glutamine: fructose ami-dotransferase (GFAT). N-acetylation of glucosamine-6-phosphate is then catalyzed by acetyltransferase, followed by the isomerization of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine-6-phosphate is then converted to uridine diphosphate. N-acetyl-D-glucosamine-1-phosphate is then converted to uridine diphosphate-N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (UDP-GlcNAc) with the addition of uridine triphosphate by UDP-*N*-acetylglucosamine pyrophosphorylase. At this

point, UDP-GlcNAc can be relocated to the Golgi apparatus by UDP-GlcNAc transporters as a substrate to modify proteins and other molecules. In some cases it is changed into UDP-N-acetylgalactosamine by a reversible reaction catalyzed by UDP-galactose-4epimerase (Shirato et al., 2011).

The HBP plays an essential nutrient sensing role that aids in the regulation of glucose uptake and metabolism (Daniels, Ciaraldi, Nikoulina, Henry, & Mcclain, 1996). Inhibition of GFAT, the rate-limiting enzyme of the HBP, by azoserine blocked diabetic symptoms in rats (Pang, Bounelis, Chatham, & Marchase, 2004). Conversely, overexpression of GFAT increases glycogen and fatty acid production in a manner that is independent of glucose levels (Daniels et al., 1996) and has a negative relationship on glucose tolerance in the liver and in pancreatic beta cells (Veerababu et al., 2000). Overexpression of GFAT also results in increased production of UDP-GlcNAc and correlates to several diabetic symptoms including obesity, insulin resistance and hyperlipidemia (McClain, 2002). Finally, when blood glucose levels remain high, an increase in protein modification can be measured in pancreatic beta cells (Andrali, Qian, & Ozcan, 2007).

#### Nutrient Sensing Role of the HBP

UDP-GlcNAc was first shown to modify proteins along the plasma membrane in 1984 (Torres & Hart, 1984). The modification of other proteins throughout the cell was shown by Holt and Hart in 1986 (Holts & Hart, 1986). Modification of certain proteins was later linked to insulin resistance by Marshall et al. in 1991 (Marshall et al., 1991). UDP-GlcNAc modification is a standard part of the cellular signaling that occurs on serine and threonine residues of proteins in many tissue types (Repeats, Kreppel, Blomberg, & Hart, 1997; Laczy et al., 2009; Hart, Slawson, Ramirez-Correa, & Lagerlof, 2011). Modification of a wide variety of proteins increases as a result of increased flux through the HBP due to high glucose levels in the bloodstream (Patti, Virkamäki, Landaker, Kahn, & Yki-Järvinen, 1999). In the liver, where the HBP is especially active, this can result in the modification of key insulin signaling proteins and can exacerbate the onset of insulin resistance (X. Yang et al., 2008)

Evidence shows that modification by UDP-GlcNAc can serve as a signal that can direct cellular activity (Laczy et al., 2009) and can have an adverse effect on insulin initi-

ated phosphorylation (Taylor et al., 2008; McClain, 2002; Vosseller, Wells, Lane, & Hart, 2002; Veetil, 2011). UDP-GlcNAc moieties can potentially compete for the same, or adjacent serine or threonine residues of signaling proteins as phospho moieties (Buse, Robinson, Marshall, Hresko, & Mueckler, 2002; Andrali et al., 2007; Laczy et al., 2009; Taylor et al., 2008; X. Yang et al., 2008). Thus, competing modification by UDP-GlcNAc can potentially serve a reciprocal purpose to that of phosphorylation (Kamemura & W, 2003; Issad, Masson, & Pagesy, 2010; Ruan, Singh, Li, Wu, & Yang, 2013). In the liver, the phosphorylation of several insulin signaling proteins have been shown to be affected by glycosylation (X. Yang et al., 2008).

Examples of insulin sensitive proteins that are known to be affected as a result of increased UDP-GlcNAc modification include AKT and IRS1 (Park, Ryu, & Wan, 2005; Patti et al., 1999), metabolic enzymes such as hexokinase (Virkamäki & Yki-Järvinen, 1999) and transcription factors such as specificity protein 1 (Sp1) (Laczy et al., 2009) (Hart et al., 2011). Blocking the removal of UDP-GlcNAc from protein residues has been shown to reduced insulin responsiveness in insulin-responsive tissues and to decrease the translocation of glucose transport proteins to the plasma membrane (Vosseller et al., 2002; Park et al., 2005).

#### <u>Glucosamine</u>

In 1991, Stephen Marshall and his associates proposed and successfully showed that flux through the HBP could be increased by treating cells with glucosamine (Marshall et al., 1991). Glucosamine circumvents the pathway's rate limiting step and thereby leads to insulin resistance. Early studies showed that glucosamine had an adverse effect on glucose uptake, metabolism and glycogen accumulation (Bekesi, Bekesi, & Winzler, 1969). Even with these findings, scientists had not made a solid connection between glucosamine, glucose toxicity and insulin resistance.

Glucosamine is commonly used as a supplemental treatment for patients with joint injuries, many of whom have diabetes. The entry of glucosamine into hepatocytes is very similar to glucose in that it enters through the same receptor (GLUT2) and is phosphorylated by glucokinase (Uldry, Ibberson, Hosokawa, & Thorens, 2002). While GLUT1, 2, and 4 all can transport glucosamine, GLUT2 has a higher affinity for glucosamine than for glucose (Uldry et al., 2002).

Following the work by Marshall et al., evidence that glucosamine promoted O-GlcNac modification of proteins as a result of increased flux through the HBP and could lead to insulin resistance was shown in several models including adipocytes in culture (Vosseller et al., 2002) and rat skeletal muscle (Patti et al., 1999; Robinson, Sens, & Buse, 1993). In the liver, O-GlcNac modification has been shown to occur on several insulin signaling proteins (Virkamaki, 1997), and, in cases where modification is increased, the phosphorylation of several signaling proteins such as IRS and PI3K (Patti et al., 1999) and transcription proteins such as SP1 is negatively affected (Hart et al., 2011)

Several labs also demonstrated that glucosamine impaired the insulin initiated translocation of the GLUT4 transporter protein to the plasma membrane (Baron et al., 1995) (Rossetti et al., 1995; Giaccar et al., 1995). Antti Virkamaki showed that glucosamine affected propagation of phosphate signals for proteins in the insulin signaling cascade in multiple insulin sensitive tissues (Virkamaki, 1997). This modification has been shown to occur at multiple sites along the insulin signaling cascade including PI3K (Patti et al., 1999), which plays a role in regulating insulin-responsive GLUT4 translocation (Baron et al., 1995). In the liver, where glucose is retained as a result of phosphorylation by glucokinase, glucosamine was shown to reduce the activity of glucokinase in a concentration dependent manner (Barzilai, Hawkins, Angelov, Hu, & Rossetti, 1996). Glucosamine treatment has also been shown to modulate the expression of genes involved in both fat and glucose metabolism in adipocytes (Rumberger, Wu, Hering, & Marshall, 2003) and hepatocytes (Hirahatake, Meissen, Fiehn, & Adams, 2011).

#### Insulin Responsive Proteins

Understanding the effect that glucosamine has on the insulin-mediated expression of proteins can provide valuable information about the role that high glucose concentration has on insulin-induced expression. Expression of proteins is crucial to the cellular response to its nutrient environment. This study looks at the expression of several of those proteins to characterize their response under glucosamine induced insulin resistant conditions, namely TRIB3, SREBP-1c, G6PDH, and FAS.

#### Tribbles3

Tribbles3 (TRIB3) (also known as neuronal cell death-inducible protein kinase) plays a role in regulating the insulin signaling pathway. Since its discovery in humans in 1999 (Mayumi-Matsuda, Kojima, Suzuki, & Sakata, 1999), TRIB3 and its family members, TRIB1 and TRIB2, have been implicated in numerous functions including cellular proliferation and regulation of chemotaxis (Ostertag et al., 2010; Ding, Kato, & Du, 2008).

TRIB3 is the most characterized member of the Tribbles family and possesses a 30% identity to other proteins in the serine/threonine kinase family (Wilkin et al., 1997). However, unlike other members of this family, it possesses no ATP binding site which is why it is called a pseudokinase. TRIB3 is expressed throughout the body with significantly high levels of expression in the liver (Liu et al., 2010). It is regulated at both the transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels (Du & Ding, 2009; Hegedus, Czibula, & Kiss-Toth, 2006; Wilkin et al., 1997).

Several pieces of evidence have firmly connected TRIB3 to insulin signaling and the diabetic disease state. Numerous models of diabetes, including streptozotocin (STZ) induced diabetic rats, *db/db* mice, Zucker fatty rats, liver specific receptor knockout mice and patients with Type II diabetes mellitus, show increased TRIB3 expression (Liu et al., 2010) (Koo et al., 2004). Additionally several labs have shown that TRIB3 protein and mRNA are increased during insulin resistance (He, Simmen, Mehendale, Ronis, & Badger, 2006; Du & Ding, 2009; Wasef, Robinson, Berkaw, & Buse, 2006). Recent studies have identified TRIB3 as an inhibitor of several members of the insulin signaling pathway, including AKT, ERK1/2, IRS1 and MAPK (Du, Herzig, Kulkarni, & Montminy, 2003; Liu et al., 2010; Tang et al., 2008; Wilkin et al., 1997; Liu et al., 2010). In the cytosol of insulin resistant, animals studies have shown increased co-localization of TRIB3 and AKT (He et al., 2006; Yao & Grégoire Nyomba, 2007).

TRIB3's influence over AKT is of particular interest since AKT occupies a gatekeeping role in propagating insulin signaling to many arms of the insulin signaling cascade. TRIB3 inhibits the phosphorylation of AKT at Ser473 and Thr308 in AKT's activation loop (Zhang et al., 2013) during an insulin resistant state (Hegedus, Czibula, & Kiss -Toth, 2006; Liu et al., 2010). Studies that overexpressed TRIB3 show a clear decrease in AKT phosphorylation, which promotes hyperglycemia and reduces glucose tolerance in *db/db* mice (Du et al., 2003). Conversely, knockdown of hepatic TRIB3 has been shown to improve glucose tolerance and increase insulin sensitivity in liver and muscle (Koo et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2010) Knockdown of TRIB3 also enhances AKT phosphorylation in HepG2 cells (Du et al., 2003)

We are still learning about the many roles of TRIB3. From the evidence that we presently have, it is clear that TRIB3 plays a part in many aspects of metabolism. In addition to activation and increased expression caused by insulin resistance, TRIB3 is also increased as a result of conditions that are associated with insulin resistance, such as changes in blood sugar concentration (Liu et al., 2010; Schwarzer, Dames, Tondera, Klippel, & Kaufmann, 2006), increased reactive oxygen species in kidneys of diabetic mice (Morse et al., 2010), ER stress (Nicoletti-Carvalho et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2010) and sustained high levels of free fatty acids due to a high fat diet (Y.-G. Wang, 2009; Ostertag et al., 2010). And, as with many elements that affect insulin resistance, there is evidence to show that TRIB3 expression and activity also responds to changes in insulin levels (Ding et al., 2008) in a tissue specific manner. Still some controversy remains over the specific role that TRIB3 plays. At least two research groups have challenged findings that TRIB3 has any role to play in the regulation of the insulin signal pathway at all (Iynedjian, 2005; Okamoto et al., 2007) contradicting the findings of many other research groups.

#### Sterol Regulatory Element Binding Protein-1c

In 1993 Tontonoz et, al. isolated a novel protein called adipocyte determination and differentiation protein 1 or ADD1 (Tontonoz, Kim, Graves, & Spiegelman, 1993). Today ADD1 is known as sterol regulatory element binding protein-1c (SREBP-1c) and is one of three isoforms that are part of the basic helix-loop-helix leucine zipper (bHLH-Zip) family of proteins. SREBPs belong to the basic-helix-loop-helix leucine zipper family of DNA-binding proteins and play a fundamental role in cholesterol and fatty acid metabolism. Three isoforms that vary in structure, regulation and function have been identified in mammalian tissues; they are SREBP-1c, SREBP-1a and SREBP2. SREBP2 is primarily involved in cholesterol metabolism (H Shimano et al., 1999) and is transcribed from an alternate gene (*srebp2*) (Giandomenico, Simonsson, Gro, & Ericsson, 2003). SREBP-1a and SREBP-1c are products of alternative promoter usage of the *srebf1* gene (Tontonoz et al., 1993).

SREBP-1c is the principal isoform in liver (Rome et al., 2008; Yellaturu, Deng, Park, Raghow, & Elam, 2009) and regulates transcription of genes involved in fatty acid metabolism, such as fatty acid synthase (FAS) and acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) (Hitoshi Shimano et. al., 1999). Therefore, it is foreseeable that any potential changes in SREBP-1c regulation would also affect fatty acid metabolism and gene expression. SREBP-1c cooperates with other metabolic transcription factors like SP1 and CAAT binding factors (Mueller et al., 2008) to regulate proteins involved in carbohydrate metabolism such as G6PDH (Sirek et al., 2009; Azzout-marniche et al., 2000; Dentin et al., 2004; H Shimano et al., 1999; Korczynska et al., 2004).

Regulatory control of SREBP-1c is achieved by several mechanisms. While SREBP-1c is not regulated exclusively by insulin, numerous studies support the regulation of SREBP-1c's activity and expression by the insulin responsive PI3K/AKT pathway (Azzout-marniche et al., 2000; Foretz et al., 1999; Yellaturu et al., 2009; Worgall, Sturley, Seo, Osborne, & Deckelbaum, 1998; Krycer, Sharpe, Luu, & Brown, 2010; Fleischmann & Iynedjian, 2000; Horton, Bashmakov, Shimomura, & Shimano, 1998; Foretz et al., 1999). Inhibition of both AKT and PI3K results in a significant reduction in SREBP-1c gene expression (Fleischmann & Iynedjian, 2000; K. H. Kim et al., 2004; Rome et al., 2008; Hasty et al., 2000). Phosphorylation of SREBP-1c by GSK3 beta, a point downstream of AKT, plays a role in regulating SREBP-1c stability and transcription. (Punga, Bengoechea-Alonso, & Ericsson, 2006; Krycer et al., 2010; He et al., 2006; Hirano, Yoshida, Shimizu, & Sato, 2001).

In addition to its regulation by insulin, SREBP-1c is also regulated by glucose levels in the liver (Yamamoto et al., 2007). Liver X receptor (LXR), an essential component of SREBP-1c transcriptional regulation, is a target for glucose-regulated *O*-linked GlcNAc modification (Anthonisen et al., 2010). Increases in O-GlcNAcylated LXR as a result of increased glucose flux through the HBP has been shown to modulate SREBP-1c expression in H2-35, a mouse liver cell line, and Huh7, a human liver cell line (Anthonisen et al., 2010). These factors point strongly to the possibility that expression levels of SREBP-1c are directly influenced by glucosamine induced insulin resistance as a result of increased flux through the HBP.

#### Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase

The pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) is the dominant carbohydrate metabolizing pathway in the liver, metabolizing nearly 50% of all the glucose that enters this organ (Shonka, 1960). It is crucial to many essential processes in the cell including maintaining the balance of reducing compounds such as NADPH needed for lipid metabolism and producing building blocks for nucleic acids. Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) is the rate-limiting enzyme for the PPP and has been shown to respond to insulin's signal, both at the level of activity and expression (Berg et al., 1995).

Rate limiting proteins, like G6PDH, are acted upon directly by elements of the insulin signaling cascade to control activity, or are indirectly regulated through transcriptional regulation. The regulation of proteins in this manner helps to control fat and glucose and assure that they are metabolized in a way that meets the biological needs at the time.

Regulation of G6PDH transcription and activity plays an important part in directing hepatic glucose metabolism and the nutrient state of the cell. Because of its importance, it is understandable that hormones, such as insulin, play a significant role in the regulation of this rate limiting enzyme. Effort has been made to uncover the mechanism for regulation of G6PDH by insulin and validate its effect on G6PDH expression. Some evidence suggests that G6PDH is predominately regulated at the posttranscriptional level (Salati et al., 2004; Kurtz & Wells, 1981). However, there is evidence to show that expression of G6PDH is also regulated by the presence of insulin (Kurtz & Wells, 1981; Stumpo & Kletzien, 1984; Stapleton et al., 1993; Wagle, Jivraj, Garlock, & Stapleton, 1998).

Evaluation of the G6PDH promoter region has revealed binding sites for several important nutrient and hormone directed transcription factors, such as SREBP-1c (Arkwright-Keeler, 2005; Thekkat, 2007; Laliotis, Bizelis, Argyrokastritis, & Rogdakis, 2007), implicating the PI3K/AKT pathway in G6PDH regulation. Dampening the insulin

21

induced response by inhibiting members of the PI3K/AKT pathway has been shown to have an effect on G6PDH mRNA expression (Wagle et al., 1998).

#### Fatty Acid Synthase

Several factors relate hepatic fatty acid synthesis and glucose metabolism. Glucose metabolized through the PPP produces reducing molecules for the oxidation of fatty acids (FAs), making it possible for the body to store excess energy as FAs (Postic & Girard, 2008). The activity and expression of enzymes involved in both pathways also share a commonality in that they respond similarly to insulin and increased glucose availability. For example, expression of fatty acid synthase (FAS), a multi-enzyme complex that utilizes malonyl-CoA as a building block to synthesize 16 carbon FAs, is known to increase in response to insulin and increased glucose availability (Foufelle, Girard, & Ferré, 1996; Rufo et al., 2001). Insulin mediated increase of FAS expression has been shown to occur via the PI3K/AKT and MAPK pathways (Memon, Grunfeld, Moser, & Feingold, 1994; Wang & Sul, 1998b; Radenne et al., 2008) and to decrease in response to fasting and cAMP (Goodridge et al., 1989; Paulauskis & Sul, 1989). FAS expression was also decreased in whole animals treated with streptozotocin and was reversible with the addition of Se (Berg et al., 1995).

Promising evidence shows that glucosamine is linked to the glucose response of lipogenic genes. A study in rat adipocytes revealed that combined glucosamine and insulin treatment significantly increased FAS, and acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and glycerol-3-P dehydrogenase in primary adipocytes, producing a somewhat additive effect when compared to glucosamine or insulin alone (Rumberger et al., 2003). Evidence also shows that FAS expression is significantly increased in high carbohydrate diets of diabetic patients who are insulinimic (Schwarz, Linfoot, Dare, & Aghajanian, 2003; R. A. Memon, Grunfeld, Moser, & Feingold, 1994). Further, this same study showed that removal of glutamine from cell culture media reduced the increase of FAS and acetyl-CoA carboxylase expression in the presence of glucose and insulin. The reduction in gene expression, along with other evidence indicate that in adipose tissue, the HBP is a mechanism for nutritional control of expression of FAS in primary rat adipocytes (Rumberger et al., 2003). Another study showed that activation of the HBP is associated with increased

FAS expression and ACC-1 expression in HepG2 cells (Hirahatake et al., 2011). Even though the potential for differential expression in different model types is well known, it is reasonable to expect a similar expression profile in primary rat hepatocytes.

#### **Objectives of Study**

The effects of glucosamine induced insulin resistance on metabolism are manifested in a myriad of ways including the transcription of genes. This study evaluated the effect of glucosamine on the insulin initiated transcription of TRIB3, SREBP-1c, G6PDH and FAS, which are involved in signal transduction, transcription and metabolism respectively.

Se's ability to behave as an insulin mimetic agent has been established in vivo models of Type I diabetes supporting its use as a therapeutic agent in Type I diabetes. However, Se's effectiveness as a therapeutic agent and insulin mimetic in Type II diabetes or insulin resistance is less understood. This study investigated whether Se could restore the transcription of insulin responsive genes that has been lost or dampened due to glucosamine induced insulin resistance.

We hypothesize that increased flux through the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway can inhibit or dampen the transcription of select genes involved in signal transduction, transcription and metabolism, and that selenium, an insulin mimetic, can overcome the insulin resistant state.

#### **Objectives of Study**

1. To assess the effect of glucosamine on the insulin induced gene expression of key insulin induced signaling protein, transcription factor and metabolic enzymes; namely TRIB3, SREBP-1c, G6PDH and FAS.

2) To test the ability of selenium to mimic insulin's effect on gene expression and circumvent insulin signaling pathway in glucosamine induced insulin resistance, once the glucosamine effect was characterized for our genes of choice.

#### II. Materials and Methods

Male Sprague-Dawley SASCO rats weighing 150-170 grams were obtained from Charles River, Portege, MI. Rats were maintained on lab diet 5001 standard rodent chow. Animal protocols were approved by the WMU Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). Prior to hepatocyte isolation, rats weighing >200 grams were fasted (provided drinking water ad libitum) for approximately 48 hours. Animals were anesthetized with an injection of pentobarbital (approximately 50mg/Kg) (Sigma-Aldrich). Hepatocytes were isolated using a collagenase-hyalurodinase perfusion and digestion method (Stapleton et al., 1993). The perfusion solution was introduced to the liver via a catheter through the portal vein and contained 0.148M NaCl, 0.01M HEPES, 0.017M fructose, 0.049mM EGTA, 0.5% phenol red, and 6unit/ml heparin with pH-7.4. Then a digestion solution that contained 100ug/ml collagenase D, 93unit/ml hyaluronidase, 160unit/ml trypsin inhibitor, and 0.2% BSA was passed through the portal vein.

The liver was removed and cut into smaller pieces and placed on gauze covering a beaker. Digestion solution was poured over the resulting segments while they were digested and forced through the gauze. Following this, the solution containing the digested tissue was decanted into 50 ml tubes and centrifuged at 4°C for 3 minutes at 50xg. The supernatant was aspirated, and the pellet was resuspended, washed and centrifuged twice with cold Waymouth's MB 752/1 medium (Gibco, Grand Island, NY) containing 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) from Sigma. After the final washing, the cell pellet was gently resuspended in fresh BSA/Waymouth's medium. Cell viability was determined using trypan blue exclusion. Cells with greater than 75% viability were plated on sterilized 60 mm collagen (Sigma) coated plates at approximately 2.0 x10<sup>6</sup> cells per plate. The cells were incubated in 4 ml BSA/Waymouth's medium at 37°C in an incubator (5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% air) for a 4 hour attachment period. After the attachment period, the media was aspirated, and cells were washed with 1 ml BSA free Waymouth's MB 752/1 media. Finally, cells were incubated in 4ml of BSA free Waymouth's MB 752/1 media (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) at 37°C in an incubator (5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% air) for 18 hours until treatment.

#### <u>Treatment</u>

To assess the effect of glucosamine on insulin or selenium induced expression of insulin responsive genes, the media was aspirated, and cells were washed with DMEM low glucose media (5mM) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Cells were then separated into two treatment groups, with or without 1mM glucosamine (Sigma) and incubated for 18hrs in DMEM low glucose media (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) at 37°C in an incubator (5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% air).

Marshall et al., demonstrated that glucosamine treatment could be utilized to successfully induce insulin resistance and result in minimal damage, in (Marshall et al., 1991) thus, we mirrored these conditions in our study. To test for glucosamine's effect on insulin induction, 44nM insulin (Sigma) was added to designated insulin treatment groups in both glucosamine and non-glucosamine groups at the time of media change and incubated for 18hrs. 500uM sodium selenate was added for 6hrs to media of cells undergoing mimetic treatment in both glucosamine and non-glucosamine treatment groups.

To test the role of the insulin pathway on glucosamine induced insulin resistance and mimetic activation, the PI3K inhibitor LY294002 (Sigma) was added to sample plates where indicated for 1 hour prior to an18hr incubation period with insulin.

#### Harvesting and Isolation of Cellular mRNA

Prior to harvesting of cellular mRNA, media was removed and cells were then washed twice with 2ml of cold phosphate buffer saline (PBS). Cells were then scraped from the plate, lysed and the cellular mRNA was isolated using 1ml of TRIzol/60mm dish (TRIzol reagent, Invitrogen). The lysate was then placed in Eppendorf tubes. Chloroform (Sigma) (.2-.3ml/1ml TRIzol) was added to the cell suspension and pulled up and down through the pipette tip for several seconds, followed by a 10min incubation at room temperature. The cell lysate was then centrifugation for 15 min (=14000 Xg at 4°C). Following centrifugation, the upper aqueous phase that contains RNA was transferred to a fresh Eppendorf tube and 1ml isopropyl alcohol was added to each sample tube followed by a 10min incubation period at room temperature. Samples were then centrifuged for ten more minutes (10000 Xg @4°C). After removing the supernatant, the RNA precipitate

was then washed with 1 ml of 75% ethanol. The RNA pellet was again centrifuged (5000 Xg @4°C) for 5 minutes and resuspended in water.

#### Amplification

mRNA concentration was measured using a NANO Drop (Thermo Scientific, ND 100). For the quantification of the RNA isolate, 1ul of RNA was placed on the NANO drop and 230 nm, 260nm and 280 nm readings were taken.

For quantification of the RNA isolated, a spectrophotometer was used, and readings at wavelengths of 230nm, 260 nm and 280 nm were taken. The reading at 260 nm allows for quantification of nucleic acid concentration in the purified sample. The 230nm and 280nm reading allows for the determination of solvent and protein contaminants levels. The RNA concentration read was then calculated by using the following formula:

1 O.D. (optical density) at 260 nm for RNA molecules = 40 ng/ul of RNA

#### Quantitative Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRTPCR)

Real-time quantitative PCR (qRTPCR) was done using a two-step method. All reagents for both steps of the qRTPCR were purchased from Life Technologies, Inc. First, DNase enzyme was utilized (Deoxyribonuclease I, Amplification Grade, Cat. No. 18068-015, Life Technologies) to eliminate interfering signals from genomic DNA in preparation of the RNA sample prior to qRTPCR. Then mRNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA on a thermocycler (Eppendorf Master Cycler gradient) using the Taqman reverse transcription kit. Reverse transcription reactions were performed in a total volume of 100  $\mu$ l that contained 10ul 10x Taqman buffer, 22 ul of 25mM MgCl2, 5ul random hexamers, 200ng of mRNA, 10 mMdNTP's, 2ul RNase inhibitor, 18.5 ul water and 2.5 10X reverse transcriptase enzymes (TaqMan Reverse transcription reagents, part no. N808-0234). Amplification of cDNA was intermittently confirmed by running cDNA out on an electrophoresis gel.

The second step was performed on the Step One<sup>TM</sup> System (Life Technologies). qRTPCR reaction was carried out in a 96-well plate containing the following reaction; 12.5ul of 2X Taqman Universal PCR Master Mix, 1.25 ul of 20X Taqman Gene expres-
sion assays-containing specific PCR primers and FAM Tm dye labeled probes, cDNA obtained from the first strand synthesis reaction and 6.25ul of water to a final reaction volume of 25ul. After an initial incubation step for 2 minutes at 50°C and denaturation for 10 minutes at 95 °C, qRTPCR was carried out using 40 cycles of PCR (95°C for 15s. 60°C for 60s). βactin was used as a reference gene. Primer/probe sets for the genes studies were commercially obtained from Life Technologies and are included in table 1.

Gene	Assay ID	
G6PDH	Rn00566576_m1	
FAS	Rn00569117_m1	
SREBP-1c	Rn01495769_m1	
TRIB3	Rn00595314_m1	
bACT	Rn00667869_m1	

Table 1. List of oligonucleotide primers

## Statistical Analysis

The results were expressed as the mean <u>+</u>SEM of treatment groups or animals used for each experiment. The comparisons within groups were performed non-parametric paired t-test (Wilcoxon signed rank test) and non-parametric ANOVAs (Kruskal Wallis). Statistical significance was at p<0.05.

#### III. Results

An essential part of insulin's role is the mediation of protein production in response to newly ingested nutrients. The process of protein production is energy intensive and must be vigorously controlled by multiple mechanisms (Neufeld & Arsham, 2010). One avenue for control is the regulation of transcription. Transcriptional control allows the cell to manage the types of proteins that are produced and the timing of their production.

Chronically high glucose concentration can lead to breakdowns in the mechanisms that control transcription as well as result in miss-timed or inappropriate signals. Many of these miscues can lead to diabetes. In the presence of chronically high glucose concentrations, cells employ systems that control the rate of glucose influx and regulate sensitivity to insulin activation.

In 1991 Marshall and colleagues implicated the HBP as a mechanism that is utilized by the cell to control insulin sensitivity and glucose uptake in insulin responsive tissues in the presence of chronically high circulating glucose concentration (Marshall et al., 1991). Studies showed that by treating adipocytes in culture with glucosamine, the pathways' rate limiting step was bypassed resulting in increased flux through the HBP (Marshall et al., 1991; Hassel, Kimura, & Hascal, 1986). This increased pathway flux resulted in an increase in the byproducts, uridine diphosphate-N-acetyl-D-glucosamine and UDP-N-acetylgalactosamine concentrations and also increased modification of multiple cellular proteins (Buse et al., 2002; Andrali et al., 2007; Laczy et al., 2009). Several studies showed that the increased protein modification by HBP byproducts, that occurred in glucosamine treated animals, interfered with phosphorylation along the insulin signaling cascade (Ruan et al., 2013; Marshall et al., 1991) by competing for phosphorylation sites and blocking phosphorylation signals (Patti et al., 1999). Glucosamine has been successfully used to mimic the effect of high glucose concentration in many models and to induce insulin resistance.

To date, most studies utilizing glucosamine as a model of high glucose concentration have not concentrated on liver. Therefore, substantially less is known about the effect of glucosamine on insulin mediated expression in liver. Our laboratory has established that in primary hepatocytes, incubation with glucosamine can indeed yield insulin resistance. The results of this study both confirm and expand our previous findings.

# Effect of Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance on Insulin Mediated G6PDH Gene

Expression



Figure 3. Insulin mediated expression of G6PDH in the presence of glucosamine. Cells were incubated for 18h in low glucose media (5mM) with or without 1mM glucosamine. 44nm of insulin was added where indicated and incubated with cells for 18h. Values indicate the fold increase of mRNA as compared to the non-treated control (NA, n=16; INS, n=15; GLU, n=12; G-INS, n=14; INS-LY, n=5 ) n= number of subjects.  $\star$  =significant difference from NA;  $\star$  =significant difference from INS. The comparisons within groups were performed non-parametric paired t-test (Wilcoxon signed rank test) and non-parametric ANOVAs (Kruskal Wallis). Statistical significance was at p<0.05.

Insulin mediates expression for metabolic genes such as G6PDH. This rate limiting enzyme of the pentose phosphate pathway is vital for both carbohydrate and fatty acid metabolism in the liver. Expression of G6PDH has been shown to respond to insulin though activation of the insulin signaling cascade (Berg et al., 1995).

## Glucosamine Suppresses Insulin Mediated Expression of G6PDH

To verify the effect of glucosamine in establishing insulin resistance in hepatocytes and in diminishing the insulin induction of G6PDH expression, liver cells were cotreated with 1mM glucosamine and 44nM insulin. Expression levels of G6PDH (fold increase/decrease in mRNA, quantified using RT-PCR) from all treatments were compared to the expression level of G6PDH in non-treated control (NA). Expression of G6PDH increased approximately two fold over the control in the presence of 44nM insulin, confirming the insulin induction of G6PDH expression that we have previously observed (Veetil, 2011; Thekkat, 2007; Berg et al., 1995).

The insulin induction of G6PDH was significantly suppressed in the presence of 1mM glucosamine (figure 3). A 0.53 reduction in expression in the presence of insulin with glucosamine was observed when compared to incubation with insulin alone. Glucosamine alone had no significant effect on the expression of G6PDH, thus the action of glucosamine is truly in interfering with the process by which insulin induces expression. While there was not a complete suppression of the insulin action, these results are comparable to previous data from our lab that show a reduction in insulin mediated G6PDH expression in the presence of glucosamine in primary hepatocytes in culture (Veetil, 2011).

It has been shown that insulin regulation of G6PDH is achieved largely through the insulin activation of the PI3K/AKT pathway (Wagle et al., 1998). Indeed, in these studies, activation of PI3K was determined to be a key protein for the insulin induction of G6PDH. LY294002 is a known inhibitor of PI3K and thus we compared its effect to the effects of glucosamine. Interestingly in these results LY294002 diminished the effect of insulin on the induction of G6PDH in a manner comparable to results obtained from coincubation of glucosamine and insulin. (figure 3) Indeed it might be attractive to speculate that glucosamine has some effect on activation the PI3K pathway by insulin.

Effect of Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance on Insulin Mediated FAS Gene



Figure 4. Insulin mediated expression of FAS in the presence of glucosamine. Cells were incubated for 18h in low glucose media (5mM) with or without 1mM glucosamine. 44nm of insulin was added where indicated incubated with cells for 18h. Values indicate the fold increase of mRNA as compared to the non-treated control (NA, n=11; INS, n=10; GLU, n=9; G-INS, n=8; INS-LY, n=6).  $\star$  =significant difference from NA;  $\star$  =significant difference from INS. The comparisons within groups were performed non-parametric paired t-test (Wilcoxon signed rank test) and non-parametric ANOVAs (Kruskal Wallis). Statistical significance was at p<0.05.

FAS expression is known to increase in response to insulin and increased glucose availability (Rufo et al., 2001). FAS converts acetyl CoA and malonyl CoA into a 16 carbon fatty acid chains for energy storage in response to insulin activation. Treatment with insulin resulted in a 1.88 fold increase of FAS gene expression over the non-treated control, while glucosamine treatment alone showed a small, but significant difference from the non-treated control (1.25 fold increase). Treatment with insulin in the presence of glucosamine resulted in an increase of FAS expression (2.34 fold increase over the non-treated control) over that of insulin alone (1.88 fold) (figure 4). The results of this study differ from a previous study in our lab showed that glucosamine plus insulin resulted in a decrease in FAS expression (Veetil, 2011). However, in a study done by John Rumberger et al., in adiposities it was found that the presence of insulin, glucose and glutamine enhanced the expression of FAS in adiposities, implicating the HBP as important for the

positive transcriptional response of FAS to both insulin and glucose responses (Rumberger et al., 2003). Evidence also points to similar increases in FAS expression in the mouse liver and HepG2 cells in normal media with fetal bovine serum (Hirahatake et al., 2011).

Expression 2.00 1.80 1.60 Fold change of mRNA 1.40 1.20 1.00 0.80 0.60 0.40 0.20 0.00 NA Ins G G-Ins INS-LY

Effect of Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance on Insulin Mediated SREBP-1c Gene

Figure 5 Insulin mediated expression of SREBP-1c in the presence of glucosamine. Cells were incubated for 18h in low glucose media (5mM) with or without glucosamine. 44nm of insulin was added where indicated incubated to cells for 18h. Values indicate the fold increase of mRNA as compared to the non-treated control. (NA, n=13; INS, n=11; GLU, n=12; G-INS, n=12; INS-LY, n=5).  $\star$  =significant difference from NA;  $\star$  =significant difference from INS. The comparisons within groups were performed non-parametric paired t-test (Wilcoxon signed rank test) and non-parametric ANOVAs (Kruskal Wallis). Statistical significance was at p<0.05.

SREBP-1c is critical in the response to newly acquired nutrients and is one of several transcription factors that respond to insulin action. It has been shown to regulate expression of genes involved in fatty acid metabolism (Hitoshi Shimano et. al., 1999) and to some extent carbohydrate metabolism. While SREBP-1c has been shown to respond to insulin, it has also been shown to be active in insulin resistant conditions. In HepG2 cells where GFAT was over expressed causing symptoms of insulin resistance, one study showed a 7 fold increase of SREBP-1c and a 19 fold increase of FAS (Sage et al., 2010). Glucosamine has also been shown to cause increased glycosylation of several proteins involved in the regulation of SREBP-1c (Kim et al., 2004; Laplante & Sabatini, 2010; McPherson, 2013) and in some cases increase their activity (Anthonisen et al., 2010). One example of a glycosylated transcriptional regulator of SREBP-1c is liver X receptor (LXR). LXR is glycosylated in the presence of glucosamine and positively regulates SREBP-1c expression (Yamamoto et al., 2007; Anthonisen et al., 2010).

Insulin stimulated SREBP-1c expression to approximately two times the level of the non-treated control (1.92 fold) and insulin induced SREPB-1c expression was diminished (1.37 fold) in the presence of glucosamine plus insulin (figure 5). These results show the ability of glucosamine through the HBP to modulate the expression of transcription factors such as SREBP-1c that are pivotal in the regulation of metabolic genes such as G6PDH and FAS.

Some models have shown increased transcription and activity of key regulatory proteins by activation of the HBP in the absence of insulin. A study done by Anthonisen et al., noted increased levels of SREBP-1c mRNA as well as higher glycosylated and activated forms of LXR, a key regulator of SREBP-1c, in fasted refed streptizotazinizin mice. The same increase was observed in mice treated with glucosamine and in mice treated with PUGNAc, which inhibits the removal of glycosylation by O-GlcNAcase (Anthonisen et al., 2010). In this model, transcription of SREBP-1c was not increased in the presence of glucosamine alone indicating that there are other factors at play in the transcriptional response of SREBP-1c. Further study will have to be done in order to discover the reason for these differences.

Inhibition of both AKT and PI3K results in a significant reduction in SREBP-1c gene expression in numerous models (Kim et al., 2004; Rome et al., 2008; Hasty et al., 2000) including transfected primary hepatocytes (Fleischmann & Iynedjian, 2000). Yet, it is also true that several Type II diabetic models, including those that utilize glucosamine treatment and that do not employ direct AKT and PI3K inhibition, show an increase in SREBP-1c expression (Anthonisen et al., 2010; Kakuma et al., 2000; Sage et al., 2010). It is reasonable to expect that the suppression of the insulin signal to its signaling cascade will affect the expression of SREBP-1c in this model, but it is also possible that treatment with glucosamine may produce and effect on the expression of SREBP-1c through flux

through the HBP. In this study, we compared the effect of glucosamine on insulin mediated expression of SREBP-1c with that of LY294002, an inhibitor of PI3K to see if similar results could be obtained on SREBP-1c expression when inhibiting PI3K and glucosamine was used to induce insulin resistance.

Insulin increased expression of SREBP-1c expression was completely blocked by treatment with LY294002 (P<0.05) (figure 5). These results indicate that the regulation of SREBP-1c in this model is strongly dependant on the regulatory influence of insulin through PI3K. These results also show that the effect that treatment with glucosamine has on the insulin signaling pathway results in decreasing the insulin mediated expression of SREBP-1c potentially through PI3K. The lack of correlation between FAS and SREBP-1c presents the likely conclusion for compensating by other fatty acid regulatory transcription factors in our conditions.

It is interesting to note that the expression patterns of SREBP-1c and G6PDH were somewhat similar in their response to insulin and to glucosamine treatments. SREBP-1c has been shown to be a transcriptional regulator of G6PDH (Arkwright-Keeler, 2005; Thekkat, 2007) and so a similarity in their expression pattern with these agents might be expected.



Figure 6. Insulin mediated expression of TRIB3 in the presence of glucosamine. Cells were incubated for 18h in low glucose media (5mM) with or without glucosamine. 44nm of insulin was added where indicated and incubated with cells for 18h. Values indicate the fold increase of mRNA as compared to the non treated control (NA, n=13; INS, n=11; GLU, n=11; G-INS, n=11; INS-LY, n=4).  $\star$  =significant difference from NA;  $\star$  =significant difference from INS. The comparisons within groups were performed non-parametric paired t-test (Wilcoxon signed rank test) and non-parametric ANOVAs (Kruskal Wallis). Statistical significance was at p<0.05.

In several model systems, TRIB3 plays a role in regulating the phosphorylation of proteins in the insulin signaling pathway including, for example, AKT, ERK1/2, IRS1 and MAPK (Du et al., 2003; Hegedus, Czibula, & Kiss-Toth, 2006; Liu et al., 2010; Tang et al., 2008; Wilkin et al., 1997; Liu et al., 2010). The regulation of phosphorylation and subsequent inhibition of AKT by TRIB3 is of particular interest and is well studied. Expression and activation of TRIB3 has been shown to occur in both Type1 and Type2 diabetic models and to result in inhibition of AKT by TRIB3 (Liu et al., 2010). However, the initiating factors that result in TRIB3 expression are not completely understood.

TRIB3 expression was stimulated in the presence of insulin alone (2.78 fold) and also in the presence of glucosamine alone (2.38 fold). Co-treatment with insulin and glucosamine produced an additive effect on TRIB3 expression, resulting in a 4.09 fold increase in expression (figure 6). These results indicate that TRIB3 plays a role in the re-

sponse to high glucose, which would coincide with findings from other studies done in other labs (Zhang et al., 2013).

The PI3K inhibitor, LY294002 completely inhibited insulin mediated expression of TRIB3 and reduced expression to a level similar to the non-treated control (1.15 fold compared to the non-treated control) (figure 6), verifying that insulin induced TRIB3 expression is regulated by the PI3K pathway. More research is needed to discover the mechanism of PI3K activation of TRIB3 with glucosamine treatment. The response of TRIB3 to both insulin and insulin resistant conditions suggests that TRIB3 may also play a complex role in regulating insulin signaling and glucose metabolism. Future research could also look to see if the glucosamine induced expression is blocked by LY264002, which will help to shed more light on the mechanism of glucose regulation of TRIB3.

In summary, insulin stimulated the expression of all genes examined in this study. There was no induction of expression in the presence of glucosamine alone for G6PDH and SREBP-1c. However, glucosamine alone contributed to gene expression for FAS and TRIB3 and resulted in an additive effect on gene expression when combined with insulin instead of suppressing gene expression as was hypothesized. Expression levels for G6PDH and SREBP-1c were suppressed when insulin and glucosamine treatments were combined. Results are summarized in table 2.

	G6PDH	SREBP-1c	TRIB3	FAS
Ins	↑	↑	1	↑
G	_	_	1	٨
G + Ins	٨	٨	1	1
LY + Ins				
	•	—	—	—

Table 2. Summary of results of insulin gene expression

### Effect of Selenium on G6PDH Expression



Figure 7. Insulin and Se mediated expression of G6PDH. Cells were incubated for 18h in low glucose (5mM) media with or without 1mM glucosamine. 500um of Se was added where indicated and incubated with cells for 6h. Values indicate the fold increase of mRNA cells (NA, n=16; Se, n=9; G-Se, n=14; Se-LY, n=3).  $\star$  = Significant difference from NA,  $\star$  = Significant difference from NA,  $\star$  = Significant difference from Se. The comparisons within groups were performed non-parametric paired t-test (Wilcoxon signed rank test) and non-parametric ANOVAs (Kruskal Wallis). Statistical significance was at p<0.05.

Insulin resistance compromises the ability of insulin to effectively regulate the expression of critical genes such as G6PDH. Se has long been known to act as an insulin mimetic and to effect the expression of insulin responsive genes (Berg et al., 1995) (Becker et al., 1996) thus providing a method for restoring the effects of insulin action under diabetic conditions. The ability of selenium to mimic insulin's effect on G6PDH expression has been established by our lab in a Type1 diabetic model (Berg et al., 1995).

To test Se's effect on G6PDH transcription in our Type 2 model, cultured hepatocytes were treated for 6 hours in low glucose media, with or without glucosamine. Expression levels of G6PDH increased 1.33 fold above the non-treated control (figure 7) in the presence of 500um Se for 6 hours, indeed, verifying Se's ability to stimulate G6PDH expression. Se was not, however able to stimulate G6PDH expression in the presence of glucosamine. Expression of G6PDH was equal to the non-treated control in the presence of glucosamine and Se. This finding is different from previous results from a similar study in our lab, which found that Se induces expression of G6PDH in the presence of glucosamine paralleled the expression of G6PDH with Se treatment in the absence of glucosamine (Veetil, 2011). Reasons are not obvious presently as to why these results are contradictory.



Effect of Selenium on FAS Expression

Figure 8. **Insulin and Se mediated expression of FAS.** Cells were incubated for 18h in low glucose media (5mM) with or without glucosamine. 44nm of insulin was added where indicated incubated with cells for 18h. Values indicate the fold increase of mRNA as compared to the non-treated control (NA, n=11; Se, n=4; G-Se, n=3; Se-LY, n=2; G-Se-LY, n=2).  $\star$  =significant difference from NA;  $\star$  =significant difference from Se. The comparisons within groups were performed non-parametric paired t-test (Wilcoxon signed rank test) and non-parametric ANOVAs (Kruskal Wallis). Statistical significance was at p<0.05.

Expression of FAS has been shown to positively respond to Se in a Type I diabetic model (Berg et al., 1995). We hypothesized that expression of FAS would respond similarly to Se in a Type II model. Cells treated with Se alone for 6h showed a decrease (0.57 fold) in FAS expression levels when compared to the non-treated control. Six hour treatments of Se in cells incubated with glucosamine for 18h also showed no increase in FAS expression compared to the non-treated control (0.75 fold). The inability of Se to stimulate expression diverges from what has been shown in the literature and was not expected in these results (figure 8).



Effect of Selenium on SREBP-1c Expression

Figure 9. Insulin and Se mediated expression of SREBP-1c. Cells were incubated for 18h in low glucose media (5mM) with or without glucosamine. 500um Se was added where indicated incubated with cells for 18h. Values indicate the fold increase of mRNA as compared to the non-treated control (NA, n=13; INS, n=11; Se, n=9; G-Se, n=5).  $\star$  =significant difference from NA;  $\star$  =significant difference from INS. The comparisons within groups were performed non-parametric paired t-test (Wilcoxon signed rank test) and non-parametric ANOVAs (Kruskal Wallis). Statistical significance was at p<0.05.

Treatment with 500um Se for 6h did not result in induction of SREBP-1c but resulted in a slight but significant reduction in its expression (0.5 fold when compared to the non-treated control). Given these results, it was not surprising to find that Se showed no ability to induce SREBP-1c expression in the presence of glucosamine (figure 9). This result was also unexpected, since SREBP-1c is a mediator of G6PDH in its expression and G6PDH is induced by Se.

## Effect of Selenium on TRIB3 Expression



Figure 10. **Insulin and Se mediated expression of TRIB3.** Cells were incubated for 18h in low glucose (5mM) media with or without 1mM glucosamine. 500um of Se was added where indicated and incubated with cells for 6h. Values indicate the fold increase of mRNA cells (NA, n=16; Se, n=9; G-Se, n=14; Se-LY, n=3).  $\star =$  Significant difference from NA,  $\star =$  Significant difference from INS,  $\bullet =$  Significant difference from Se. The comparisons within groups were performed non-parametric paired t-test (Wilcoxon signed rank test) and non-parametric ANOVAs (Kruskal Wallis). Statistical significance was at p<0.05.

Se alone was not able to stimulate TRIB3 expression. We hypothesized that Se would behave like insulin and stimulate the expression of TRIB3, but found that its expression was instead reduced 0.48 fold when compared to the non-treated control. The decrease that resulted from Se was not expected. Combined Se and glucosamine treatment did, however, show a slight increase in TRIB3 expression above the non-treated control at 1.79 fold (figure 10) which was less than glucosamine alone which increased over two fold when compared to the control. These results suggest Se may have a dampening effect on the glucosamine induction of TRIB3 by glucosamine. It seems reasonable to speculate that reduction of TRIB3 expression by Se treatment could result in reduced inhibition of AKT and MAPK by TRIB3. In other studies, when hepatic TRIB3 expression was reduced, improved glucose tolerance and increase insulin sensitivity in liver and muscle was observed (Koo et al., 2004) (Liu et al., 2010).

In summary, Se showed an insulin mimetic effect on expression of G6PDH, but did not show an insulin mimicking effect on any other gene of interest in the present study. Se also did not mediate the expression of any of our genes of interest in the presence of glucosamine but in most cases had a suppressing effect even on proteins where glucosamine alone showed a stimulatory effect on gene expression. Results are summarized on table 3.

	G6PDH	SREBP-1c	TRIB3	FAS
Ins	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	1	<b>^</b>
G	_	_	1	*
G + Ins	•	•	1	1
LY + Ins	٨	_	_	_
Se	1	¥	•	¥
Se+G	_	Ψ	<b>^</b>	v

Table 3. Summary of results of Se on gene expression

#### IV. Discussion

Much of the health-related trauma experienced in diabetes can be traced back to chronic hyperglycemia or chronically elevated blood glucose levels. Hyperglycemia results in increased flux through metabolic pathways, the accumulation of metabolic byproducts and the buildup of reactive glucose molecules in the bloodstream, resulting in reduction of insulin-mediated events such as protein signaling and transcription (Chandarlapaty et al., 2011) (Buse, 2006). Increased flux through the HBP has been shown to play a role in mediating the effects of hyperglycemic in the liver. Increased flux through the HBP is a contributing factor wich leads to hepatic insulin resistance and eventually, diabetes. During hyperglycemia, flux through the HBP is increased resulting in increased protein glycosylation by HBP byproducts (Marshall et al., 1991). Glycosylation of proteins often affects phosphorylation as common amino acids are utilized for both types of protein modification.

In liver cells or hepatocytes, protein glycosylation by O-linked Nacetylglucosaminyltransferase (OGT) (Cheatham, 2004) (Shirato et al., 2011) occurs at higher rates because of the predominance of the HBP in the liver (Holts & Hart, 1986). Byproducts of the HBP have not only been associated with yielding a reduction of insulin mediated events but have also been implicated as a cause of insulin resistance (Marshall et al., 1991). The role of glucosamine in increasing HBP flux by bypassing the rate controlling step was first shown in adipocytes and has been implicated in the induction of insulin resistance (Marshall et al., 1991). Similarly, we and others have utilized glucosamine to induce insulin resistance in liver cells in culture to study not only the role of HBP in insulin resistance but also the mechanism(s) by which insulin resistance is caused. The first study by our lab to look at the glucosamine induced insulin resistance found that there is a general increase in protein glycosylation as a result of glucosamine treatment, as well as on specific proteins (Veetil, 2011). Additionally proteins associated with insulin signaling such as AKT, GSK3 and IRS1 were found to have their phosphorylation states are altered by glucosamine treatment (Veetil, 2011) (McPherson, 2013). Other labs have also shown sigificant decreases on insulin mediated phosphorylation of insulin signaling proteins such as PI3K. For example, Hawkins et al., showed a significant effect on PI3K and an increase in UDP-GlucNAc in human skeletal muscles cells

after only 30 minutes of incubation with glucosamine, which resulted in a loss of glucose uptake shortly after decreased phosphorylation of PI3K was noted (Hawkins et al., 1999). Not only is there an effect on insulin signaling proteins, but there has also been shown to be an effect on the insulin mediated expression of metabolic genes. It is reasonable to believe that the changes in insulin mediated expression seen in this study are likely the result of increased flux through the HBP caused by glucosamine treatment.

## The Insulin Mediated Gene Expression

Early studies in metabolism showed a link between insulin levels and regulation of the expression of both G6PDH and FAS. For example, several groundbreaking studies found that increases in G6PDH activity and mRNA levels were observed in livers from fasting and refed rats (Spolarics, 1999) and in primary rat hepatocytes in response to insulin (Fritz, Stumpo, & Kletzien, 1986). Similar increases of FAS mRNA expression due to insulin were observed in 3T3-L1 adipocytes (Paulauskis & Sul, 1989), chick hepatocytes (Goodridge et al., 1989), mouse liver and streptozoticin induced diabetic mice (Moustaïd, Beyer, & Sul, 1994). In 1995, our laboratory studied the expression of G6PDH and FAS in streptozoticin treated rats in response to insulin as well as compounds such as Se that mimic the effect of insulin. The results of this study showed that the expression patterns of G6PDH and FAS were similar in response to insulin (Berg et al., 1995). In this present study the transcriptional response of G6PDH and FAS concurs with observations of previous research by our lab and others for both FAS and G6PDH (Paulauskis & Sul, 1989) (Goodridge et al., 1989) (Moustaïd et al., 1994) (Sul, Latasa, Moon, & Kim, 2000) (Berg et al., 1995).

With the use of inhibitors such LY294002 that block the insulin induced activation of PI3K, studies have confirmed that the effect of insulin on both G6PDH and FAS expression occurs through the PI3K signaling cascade (Wagle et al., 1998) (Wang & Sul, 1998a).

To confirm the role of the PI3K signal pathway in the insulin induction of FAS and G6PDH, we utilized LY294002 in the present study and observed, when the inhibitor was present, a lack of insulin induction of each gene (figure 3) and (figure 4), al-

though the magnitude of the inhibition for each varied as the presence of LY 294002 completely inhibited the insulin induction of FAS but only partially blocked insulin induction of G6PDH.

Insulin has been shown to mediate the expression of FAS and G6PDH through not only the PI3K pathway but also through the regulation of insulin responsive transcription factors. SREBP-1c is a transcription factor that is responsive to insulin and regulates the expression of both glycolytic and lipogenic genes in the liver. For example, research with rats with chronic renal failure has shown that an increase in SREBP-1c protein concentration resulted in an increase in both FAS and G6PDH mRNA in rat white adipose tissue (Korczynska et al., 2004). Others have observed that SREBP-1c cooperates with other transcription factors such as SP1, CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBP) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARGAMA) in response to insulin and carbohydrates to regulate lipogenic genes (Payne et al., 2012). Indeed previous research from our lab identified a potential binding site for SREBP-1c along with SP1 within the G6PDH promoter (Thekkat, 2007) (Arkwright-Keeler, 2005).

While evidence supports the role of SREBP-1c in insulin regulation of lipogenic genes like G6PDH and FAS conflicting data exists. Bertile and Raclot showed that expression of lipogenic genes did not neccesarily correspond with an increase in SREBP-1c expression (Bertile & Raclot, 2004).

The regulation of SREBP-1c by insulin and the necessity for the PI3K pathway is confirmed in this present study (figure 3). Blocking the insulin induction of PI3K with LY294002 (figure 3) resulted in suppression of SREBP-1c expression. This finding is in agreement with evidence from numerous reports from several model systems including rat hepatocytes, (Azzout-marniche et al., 2000) H2-35 cells (Hasty et al., 2000) knockout mice for the insulin receptor (H Shimano et al., 1999).

While PI3K has been shown to be important in the regulation of SREBP 1C, downstream signal proteins of PI3K have also been identified and include mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3). Both proteins have been shown to also require PI3K and AKT activation by insulin (Ono et al., 2003) (S. Li, Brown, & Goldstein, 2010). The phosphorylation by AKT in the presence of insulin inhibits GSK3's ability to phosphorylate its targets: glycogen synthase (GS) and SREBP-1c. In the absence of insulin initiated phosphorylation of AKT, GSK3 inhibits the activity of GS and marks SREBP-1c for ubiquitination. The absence of insulin also inhibits the GSK3 mediated phosphorylation CCAAT-enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP), another insulin-regulated transcription factor that mediates the expression of both SREBP-1c and TRIB3 (Payne et al., 2012). C/EBP also regulates the expression of TRIB3, a signaling protein discussed later (Du & Ding, 2009). Previous research by our lab has shown that glucosamine blocks phosphorylation of GSK3 by AKT in primary hepatocytes (McPherson, 2013). Although some research suggests the possibility that GSK3 mediated control of SREBP-1c and fat metabolism my be activated apart from mTOR, (Bengoechea-Alonso & Ericsson, 2009) (D. Wang & Sul, 1998a) it is reasonable to believe that the GSK3 mediated regulation of SREBP-1c may be affected by treatment with glucosamine.

SREBP-1c is an important transcription factor for a number of genes beyond those for classic metabolism proteins. TRIB3, also known as neuronal cell deathinducible putative kinase, has been shown to modulate the phosphorylation of several insulin sensitive proteins and is regulated by insulin through SREBP-1c in cooperation with several other cotranscription factors such as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) (Oberkofler et al., 2010).

A study looking at the response of TRIB3 to insulin in Fao cells, a hepatocyte cell line, showed that the insulin mediated expression of TRIB3 was completely abolished as a result of PI3k inhibition with LY294002 (Du & Ding, 2009) demonstrating that PI3K is essential for TRIB3 expression. Similarly to other studies that confirmed a role for the PI3K pathway for TRIB3 induction by insulin (Du & Ding, 2009) (Ding et al., 2008), we did not observe TRIB3 induction with insulin in the presence of LY294002 (figure 4). In this present study we have also shown that TRIB3 is induced by insulin in both insulin sensitive and insulin insensitive conditions caused by glucosamine treatment. Future research should examine the role of PI3K in expression of TRIB3 by insulin in insulin resistant conditions.

While the expression of TRIB3 is modulated through the PI3K pathway, data that has examined the role of TRIB3 in modulating insulin mediated phosphorylation of insulin signaling proteins has shown conflicting evidence.

Although most research to date shows that increased expression of TRIB3 leads to suppression of insulin initiated phosphorylation of AKT and its downstream proteins, (Matsushima, Harada, Webster, Tsutsumi, & Nakaya, 2006) two independent reports show conflicting evidence. Patrick lynedjian et al. showed that overexpression of TRIB3 in primary rat hepatocytes had no effect on AKT phosphorylation (Iynedjian, 2005), and a second report by Haruka Okamoto et al. showed that double negative mutant mice for TRIB3 demonstrated no noticeable difference from their wildtype littermates (Okamoto et al., 2007). Additional reports show that even in the face of reduced phosphorylation of AKT, S6K was still phosphorylated in an insulin dependent manner (Sharma, Guthrie, Chan, Haq, & Taegtmeyer, 2007). This phosphorylation of S6K in insulin resistant conditions presents the likelihood of a permissive function of AKT in diabetic conditions (Sharma, Guthrie, Chan, Haq, & Taegtmeyer, 2007). This possibility is also evidenced by the findings of one report which showed the inability of TRIB3 overexpression to block SREBP-1c expression in 3T3-L1 cells (Takahashi, Ohoka, Hayashi, & Sato, 2008). Future research will help us more fully understand TRIB3's role in regulating AKT and its downstream proteins.

## Effect of Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance on Gene Expression

Based on the recent findings of our lab and others, it was our expectation that glucosamine would block the insulin-mediated expression of the insulin responsive genes examined in this study, and would have the same or similar effects as inhibition of PI3K with LY294002. In the present study, inhibition of PI3K by LY249002 resulted in suppression of mRNA expression for all the genes studied: G6PDH, FAS, SREBP1c and TRIB3. However, the glucosamine-induced insulin resistant state did not uniformly inhibit insulin-mediated expression. While the insulin induced expression of two genes of interest, G6PDH and SREBP-1c, saw a decrease in insulin induced expression in the presence of glucosamine, the other two genes in this study, FAS and TRIB3, actually saw increased expression as a result of glucosamine, and this increase was additive in the presence of insulin. Changes in insulin initiated expression are due in part to a rise in protein glycosylation caused by increased flux through the HBP (Li et al., 2010). As a result of the work of Marshall et al., we now know that increased glycosylation as a result of increased HBP flux reduces the phosphorylation of insulin responsive signaling proteins (Marshall et al., 1991). Subsequent studies have shown that many end results of the insulin signal are blocked as a consequence of glycosylation in a manner comparable to the use of chemical inhibitors. Two previous studies from our lab have supported the findings of Marshall et al. and demonstrated that there is reduced phosphorylation of AKT and other proteins within the insulin signaling cascade as a result of the increased HBP flux (Veetil, 2011) (McPherson, 2013), possibly due to an effect on the phosphorylation of PI3K (Hawkins et al., 1999).

The onset of insulin resistance results in drastic changes in glucose and lipid metabolism. Insulin, though it is still present in the bloodstream in high amounts, loses its ability to suppress hepatic glucose synthesis and break down glucose (S. Li et al., 2010) but maintains its ability to regulate and increase the production of lipids (R A Memon et al., 1994). These factors are a significant cause of hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia in diabetic individuals. While the accumulation of fat in the body and the liver can come from several sources (Fong, Nehra, Lindor, & Buchman, 2000) (Fong et al., 2000), increased lipid production in the liver during insulin resistance is a significant contributor to the overall accumulation of fat in the body (Postic & Girard, 2008). This increase is contributed to significantly by hyperglycemia and increased HBP flux (Rumberger et al., 2003). Memon et al. looked at hepatic synthesis of lipids in two mice models, one genetically predisposed for diabetes and the other genetically predisposed for obesity and hyperinsulinemia. Their study found that, despite the onset of diabetes in the one model, hepatic lipid production was increased 9 fold in the presence of insulin and 2.4 fold in mice genetically predisposed for obesity (Memon et al., 1994).

The contrasted responses of FAS and G6PDH to glucosamine induced insulin rsistance could be due to variations observed within the lipogenic family where genes associated with lipid metabolsim differ from those associated with carbohydrate metabolism. In insulin resistant conditions, proteins that metabolize carbohydrates no longer respond to insulin as they would in insulin sensitive cells; however, genes involved in

producing lipids are still able to respond to the presence of insulin (Li et al., 2010). This phenomenon is mirrored in the results of this study. For example, in the presence of insulin, the expression of G6PDH, a carbohydrate metabolizing protein, was suppressed under insulin resistant conditions, while the expression of FAS, a protein involved in the production of fat, continued to be increased in response to insulin. The similarity in G6PDH expression levels in the presence of LY294009 and glucosamine plus insulin were echoed in the results of a previous study which also showed a reduced insulin-mediated expression of G6PDH as a result of glucosamine treatment that was similar to the result of treatment with LY294002 (Veetil, 2011).

The continued positive regulation by insulin of fat production and its release from the liver in the face of confirmed insulin resistance, in combination with the loss of regulatory control over carbohydrate metabolizing genes, is one of the mysteries of diabetes. This phenomenon has led some to propose that hyperglycimia induced insulin resistance is not complete (Brown & Goldstein, 2008) (Owen et al., 2012) (Vatner et al., 2015) and that hyperglycemia induced insulin resistance is not a complete oblation of insulin sensitivity (Li, Brown, & Goldstein, 2010). Speculation arises as to how these mechanisms differ.

Some evidence also indicates that flux through the HBP as a result of hyperglycemia may be a factor that contributes to continued regulation of FAS expression and the increase in fatty acid production. Studies in adipocytes and HEPG2 cells have shown that treatment with glucosamine is sufficient to increase FAS expression even in the absence of insulin (Rumberger et al., 2003) (Hirahatake et al., 2011) (Sage et al., 2010). Studies have also shown that increasing HBP pathway flux by overexpression of GFAT, the rate limiting step in the HBP, results in increased fat production and expression of FAS as well as several other proteins associated with fat synthesis (Veerababu et al., 2000) (McClain, Hazel, Parker, & Cooksey, 2005) (Sage et al., 2010) such as acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) (Rumberger et al., 2003) and leptin (Jiali Wang, Hawkins, Barzilai, & Rossetti, 1998) (Foufelle et al., 1996). Additionally, when glutamine, the amino source utilized by GFAT to make glucosamine, was removed, glucose lost its ability to regulate FAS expression in primary adipocytes (Rumberger et al., 2003) (Veerababu et al., 2000). In the present study, we observed a minimal yet significant increase in FAS expression with the treatment of glucosamine alone. The expression of FAS induced by the combined glucosamine and insulin treatment was greater than expression of FAS with insulin alone. This finding coincides with findings in other studies that show that HBP flux is a critical part of the mechanism of glucose regulation of FAS expression (Hirahatake et al., 2011) (Foufelle et al., 1996) (Sage et al., 2010).

Increased glycosylation due to glucosamine treatment may have a role to play in the induction of FAS expression. In the present study, treatment with LY294002 led to suppression of insulin-induced FAS expression, while treatment with glucosamine alone resulted in a slight increase in FAS expression.

The difference in expression between FAS and G6PDH in the presence of glucosamine alone points to the possibility that glucosamine influences the expression of FAS at a point distal to PI3K, while PI3K or upstream or immediate downstream factors may have more of a role for insulin induced G6PDH expression. Evidence points to the interaction between mTOR and GSK3 as the potential point at which the difference between regulation of G6PDH and FAS expression occurs (S. Li et al., 2010).

The involement of mTOR in the metabolism of proteins is well established; however, gaining a full understanding of what mTOR does has shown to be a challenge. What is known is that mTOR is activated as a result of nutrient abundance and is regulated by insulin through the PI3K/AKT (Yea & Fruman, 2011) pathway as LY294002 was shown to suppress the insulin activation of mTOR (Penuel & Martin, 1999) (Schwarzer et al., 2006). The increased activity of mTOR leads to increased expression of SREBP-1c and lipid synthesis (Iii & Birnbaum, 2012). Research has shown that rapamycin of mTOR was able to block the insulin-mediated control of SREBP-1c transcription in mouse embrionic fibroblasts (Düvel et al., 2010). The role of mTOR in regulating lipogenic gene expression was shown by Li et al., who showed that there was a concentration-dependent reduction in mTOR's control of lipogenic genes such as LXR, SREBP-1c and FAS in fasted and refed rat hepatocytes that were treated with rapamycin (S. Li et al., 2010). This same study showed that the regulation of mTOR was specific to lipogenic genes as no effect was noted on insulin's control of phosphoenol carboxy kinase (S. Li et al., 2010). Typically changes in FAS mRNA expression are accompanied by similar changes in its transcriptional regulator, SREBP-1c. One finding of the present study that is challenging to interpret is that we observed an induction of FAS in spite of a SREBP-1c decrease when glucosamine is present. Research has shown that regulation of SREBP-1c is the result of an intricate balance between carbohydrate levels and insulin signaling (Horton et al., 1998) (Kim et al., 1998) (Shimano et al., 1999) (Yamamoto et al., 2007) (Hasty et al., 2000). Yet the role of the relationship between insulin and increased flux of glucose through the HBP during hyperglycemia and in relation to the regulation of the genes studied is not known.

What is known is that insulin can modulate SREBP-1c expression through the transcription factor LXR (Xiao & Song, 2013), whose regulation of expression is influenced through post-translational processing, and the signal proteins mTOR, GSK3 and S6K. Several reports have shown that in the presence of high glucose concentrations, and with glucosamine treatment, increased glycosylation activates LXR and mTOR activity (Foretz et al., 1999) (Matsuzaka et al., 2004) (Anthonisen et al., 2010), and at least two reports showed that azaserine, an inhibitor of GFAT, reduces the production of SREBP-1c, implicating the HBP in SREBP-1c regulation (Hasty et al., 2000) (Hirahatake et al., 2011).

Conflicting data, however, from another study shows that increased glycosylation may not lead to increased SREBP-1c expression. Yang et al. found that overexpression of O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT), which is responsible for removal of glycosyl groups from proteins, caused suppressed insulin-mediated SREBP-1c mRNA expression in mice hepatic cells (X. Yang et al., 2008). This same study also showed that, as a result of overexpression of GFAT in whole mouse, hepatic expression of SREBP-1c and its target genes was decreased (X. Yang et al., 2008). These data appear to indicate that increased glycosylation due to increased HBP flux suppresses insulin-mediated expression of SREBP-1c. It is difficult to interpret the reason for the conflicting results between previously mentioned studies. Future research will be needed to tease apart the specific mechanisms involved in regulation of SREBP-1c expression as a result of glycosylation.

In the present study, we show that co-treatment with glucosamine and insulin resulted in a significant decrease in insulin initiated SREBP-1c mRNA expression. Expression of SREBP-1c, as seen in figure 3, followed the same trend as G6PDH expression seen in figure 3. Glucosamine alone and glucosamine with insulin treatments showed no significant difference, indicating that glucosamine was able to block the insulin initiated induction of SREBP-1c.

Regulation of SREBP-1c targets is also nuanced as we see in the case of FAS and G6PDH. It is known that SREBP-1c is needed for G6PDH expression (H Shimano et al., 1999) and so it makes sense that their expression patterns are similar. However, FAS is also regulated by SREBP-1c but did not correlate with SREBP-1c expression patterns in response to glucosamine treatment. The reason for this divergence in expression patterns could lie within the effect of glucosamine on the activity of mTOR, which is responsible for the insulin-mediated phosphorylation of GSK3 and S6K (Xiao & Song, 2013) (Li et al., 2010). Phosphorylation of SREBP-1c by GSK3 has been shown to result in ubiquitination of SREBP-1c, and inhibition of this phosphorylation by GSK3 was shown to increase SREBP-1c stability (Xiao & Song, 2013). S6K, a protein that is downstream of mTOR, aids in directing the processing of the immature proteins and activation of the nuclear version of SREBP-1c (Xiao & Song, 2013). In the presence of insulin, GSK3 is inhibited by AKT phosphorylation, promoting SREBP-1c stability. Synthetic inhibitors of GSK3 activity also enhanced SREBP-1c protein stability and resulted in the increased transcription activity of its targets, FAS and ACC (K. H. Kim et al., 2004). Evidence from our lab and by others showed that, in insulin-resistant conditions caused by glucosamine, phosphorylation of GSK3 by AKT at Ser9 is inhibited (McPherson, 2013) (Hawkins et al., 1999). The evidence from the previous studies by McPherson and Hawkins et al. suggests that the decreased phosphorylation of GSK3 would lead to increased SREBP-1c degradation and an inability of SREBP-1c to regulate targets. However, the decrease in SREBP-1c did not appear to have an effect on one of SREBP-1c's targets: FAS expression.

A likely explanation for the lack of effect on the expression of FAS in the absence of SREBP-1c expression is that there is compensation by other transcription factors including other isoforms of SREBP-1c. Evidence shows that in SREBP-1c (-/-) mice liver, SREBP2 and SREBP-1a were able to compensate for the loss of SREBP-1c (Liang et al., 2002). Additionally, there are other transcription factors such as PPARgama and

CCAAT-enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBP) that respond to insulin's initiated phosphorylation of mTOR and positively promote the expression of lipogenic genes (Payne et al., 2012). It is also likely that these transcription factors were able to compensate for the lack of SREBP-1c expression and promote the expression of FAS. Future research will have to be done to clarify the transcriptional mechanism for FAS expression in the absence of SREBP-1c. In addition to mediating the increase in FAS and SREBP-1c expression, PAPARgama and C/EBP have also been shown to contribute to the increase in TRIB3 expression (Selim, Frkanec, & Cunard, 2007) (Cunard, 2013) (Du & Ding, 2009) in hepatoma cells (Du & Ding, 2009) and liver (Koo et al., 2004).

The relationship between insulin sensitivity and TRIB3 regulation by members of the insulin signaling cascade is a complicated one, exasperated by a further misunderstanding of the effect that hyperglycemia has on these insulin mediated mechanisms. While high glucose concentration has been shown to induce the expression of TRIB3 in hepatic models and to result in the inhibition of AKT (Du et al., 2003), no previous study has examined the effect of glucosamine and increased HBP flux on TRIB3 in hepatocytes.

In the present study there was an additive effect of insulin and glucosamine on the expression of TRIB3. Literature shows that both insulin excess and hyperglycemia (Liu et al., 2010) (Zhang et al., 2013) increase the expression of TRIB3. Interestingly, we found glucosamine to induce TRIB3, which would suggest this may be a mechanism for AKT inhibition and loss of insulin signalling. Additional studies would need to confirm an interaction between TRIB3 with AKT under glucosamine conditions.

The next logical direction would be to test for association of TRIB3 with not only AKT but also other insulin signaling proteins. What can be concluded from the observations of this study is that TRIB3 expression increases as a result of glucosamine treatment which is commonly used as a model for high blood glucose levels or hyperglycemia and that insulin also has a direct effect.

## The Effect of Se on the Expression of Insulin Responsive Genes

Se is a micronutrient that is involved in many life processes and is a cofactor for numerous genes (Rayman, 2000) (Stapleton, 2000) (Puchau, Zulet, Gonzalez de Echavarri, Navarro-Blasco, & Martinez, 2009). Deficiency of Se causes multiple and serious health problems, such as neurodegenerative and cardiovascular disorders, and has also been shown to cause loss of insulin sensitivity (Wang et al., 2014).

Se is one of several compounds, researched over the years, that has been shown to mimic effects of insulin, such as the lowering of plasma glucose, the transporting of proteins to the plasma membrane for glucose uptake and restoring of expression of insulin responsive genes, in both in vitro and in vivo models (Becker et al., 1996) (McNeill et al., 1991) (Ghosh et al., 1994; Kim et al., 2012; Hei et al., 1998; Stapleton, 2000; Aboul-Soud et al., 2011). Research by Osama Ezaki and associates in 1990, first showed the insulin mimicking ability of Se to mediate the translocation of glucose transporters to the cell surface membrane of rat adipocytes (Ezaki, 1990). As a result of their findings, selenium has been widely studied as a method to combat symptoms associated with diabetes and insulin resistance. Part of the effectiveness of Se is attributed to its ability to mediate increased phosphorylation to signaling proteins in the insulin signaling cascade.

In several cellular models, research has shown that Se induces increased phosphorylation of several signaling proteins associated with the insulin signaling cascade, including IR (Pillay & Makgoba, 1992) PI3K, (Stapleton et al., 1997) (Heart & Sung, 2003) and IRS1(Stapleton et al., 1997). This increase in phosphorylation by Se has been shown to lead to increases in expression of FAS and G6PDH in rat liver, in a Type I diabetic model (Berg et al., 1995) (Ghosh et al., 1994) (Hei et al., 1998). While it has been proposed that the increase in phosphorylation in the presence of Se is a result of inhibition of phosphatases the actual mechanism remains unknown (Pillay & Makgoba, 1992) (Ezaki, 1990) (McNeill et al., 1991).

Recently our lab has begun to explore the ability of Se to increase metabolic gene expression in the glucosamine model of chronic hyperglycemia. In the present study, we hypothesized that Se may have insulin mimetic properties in an insulin resistant state. Thus we tested whether or not Se could restore the expression of our genes of interest in glucosamine induced insulin resistant conditions.

The results of this present study show significant increase in G6PDH mRNA with Se treatment alone and are in concert with what was shown in our early whole animal studies by Berg et al. (Berg et al., 1995) and in hepatocytes by Veetil (Veetil, 2011). Glucosamine treatment reduced Se induced G6PDH expression equal to the non-treated control, showing that Se was not able to overcome changes in expression brought on by glucosamine. The inability of Se to overcome the effect of glucosamine was a result that was not expected, as another study in our lab suggested Se continued to elicit an increase in G6PDH (Veetil, 2011). More work will have to be done in order to delineate the reasons for the differences in these results.

Evidence demonstrates that in mice Se decreases the plasma lipid, triglyceride and cholesterol concentrations, while increasing the liver lipid concentration (Mueller & Pallauf, 2006) (Steinbrenner, 2013). There is evidence to show that Se also modulates the expression of lipogenic genes such as FAS (Berg et al., 1995) (Veetil, 2011). The results from this study conflicted with our expectations that Se alone would increase the expression of FAS as previous studies have shown. In fact, there was a slight decrease in expression with Se alone and an even slighter decrease with Se and glucosamine, although the difference between Se alone and Se plus glucosamine did not achieve significant levels. The differences between this study and previous work with respect to Se's ability to stimulate the expression of metabolic genes are difficult to interpret. More study will have to be done to determine the role of Se in regulating the expression of metabolic genes in primary hepatocytes. However, as we have discussed previously in this report, the increase in FAS and many other lipogenic proteins is a symptom of diabetic conditions and leads to increased lipogenesis and obesity in diabetic individuals. The suppression of FAS by Se could be advantageous in diabetic conditions and may help to fight complications of diabetes.

Several studies, including one by Mueller, have shown that rats fed a selenate supplemented diet saw an increase in hepatic SREBP-1c expression (Mueller et al., 2009). The present study showed a slight suppression of SREBP-1c expression when cells were treated with Se and demonstrated no ability to overcome the glucosamine effect. These results differ from those found in a study done by Mueller et al. and by other research groups (Zhoua, Huanga, & Lei, 2013). This difference may have been because

our study was done in cells in culture instead of whole animals and because Se is directly available to the cells, without interference from other organs and systems. However, if Se is behaving as a mimetic on G6PDH, it is difficult to explain why Se did not behave as an insulin mimetic and induce the expression of SREBP-1c, FAS and TRIB3.

Although, from previous literature, we have a partial understanding of the mechanism that insulin uses to mediate the expression of TRIB3, to my knowledge at this time there is no literature that looks at the expression of TRIB3 in response to Se, so an interpretation of these results in light of other relevant research is difficult. However, the effect of Se on the expression and regulation of insulin signaling proteins has been well studied. Se has been shown to increase phosphorylation and expression of several signaling proteins. One protein to note that experienced increased phosphorylation in another study, as a result of Se treatment, is AKT (Veetil, 2011). Under insulin resistant conditions AKT is thought to be inhibited by TRIB3 (Liu et al., 2012). In this study, treatment with Se did not stimulate TRIB3 expression but instead reduced its expression to below the non-treated control. A dampening of glucosamine mediated stimulation of TRIB3 expression was observed with combined Se and glucosamine treatment. This effect by Se, though unexpected, in a very practical sense, could lead to reduced inhibition of AKT and MAPK by TRIB3. In studies, where hepatic TRIB3 expression was reduced, improved glucose tolerance and increased insulin sensitivity in liver and muscle was observed (Koo et al., 2004)(Liu et al., 2010). It would be an interesting direction for future studies to take in looking at the mechanism by which Se controls TRIB3 expression.

In the present study, we hypothesized that if Se is truly a mimetic, then it should increase expression of genes in a manner that is similar to insulin. While the effects of Se alone on G6PDH were in concert with what was shown in earlier studies (Berg et al., 1995) (Veetil, 2011), we were not able to replicate other studies that showed Se increased basel expression of FAS, and, in no case, was Se able to reverse suppression of gene expression that resulted from glucosamine treatment. However, the increase of certain genes as a result of insulin resistance serves to compound the diabetic condition. The suppression of certain genes by Se could be advantageous in diabetic conditions and may help to fight complications of diabetes.

To date, we have only a partial understanding of the mechanism that Se uses to mediate the expression of genes. We have broken new ground looking at the effect of Se on TRIB3 and the expression transcription factors. It is my hope that the results of this research will spark new questions about the mechanisms utilized by Se to combat insulin resistance and to suppress genes that compound the insulin resistant condition.

# Summary

In conclusion, we have utilized glucosamine as a tool to simulate chronic hyperglycemia induced insulin resistance in primary rat hepatocytes and have measured the effect on insulin mediated gene expression. After determining the effects of insulin resistance on our proteins of interest, we tested the ability of insulin and Se to act on gene expression under these conditions. While our results add some clarity to this ongoing discussion, other questions are also emerging. Further research must be done in order to shed more light on insulin regulation of genes under hyperglycemic conditions.

WESTERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY
Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee
ANNUAL REVIEW OF VERTEBRATE ANIMAL USE
PROJECT OR COURSE TITLE:       Regulation Of Gene Expression In Hepatocytes         IACUC Protocol Number:       13-04-06         Date of Review Request:       04/01/15         Purpose of project (select one):       Teaching         Research       Other (specify):
PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR OR ADVISOR         Name: Susan Stapleton       Title: Professor         Department: Chemistry       Electronic Mail Address: susan.stapleton@wmich.edu         CO-PRINCIPAL OR STUDENT INVESTIGATOR       Title: Grad Student         Name: Jaafar Hachem       Title: Grad Student         Department: Chemistry Electronic Mail Address: jaafar.hachem@wmich.edu
<ol> <li>The research, as approved by the IACUC, is completed:</li> <li>Yes (Continue with items 4-5 below.)</li> <li>No (Continue with items 2-5 below.)</li> </ol>
If the answer to any of the following questions (items 2-4) is "Yes," please provide a detailed explanation on an attached sheet of paper. Include details of any modifications made to the protocol based on new findings or publications, adverse events or mortalities.         2. Have there been any changes in Principal or Co-Principal Investigators?       □Yes       ☑No         3. Have there been any new findings or publications relative to this research that require you to alter your study?       □Yes       ☑No         Describe the sources used to determine the availability of new findings or publications:       □No       No         Mo search conducted (Please provide a justification on an attached sheet.)       □Animal Welfare Information Center (AWIC)       ☑Search of literature databases (select all applicable)         □AGRICOLA       ☑Current Research Information Service (CRIS)       ☑Biological Abstracts       ☑Medline         □Other (please specify):       Date of search:       Years covered by the search: 2005-2015         Key words:       □Additional search strategy narrative:         4. Are there any adverse events, in terms of animal well-being, or mortalities to report as a result of this research?       □Yes         Question       □Yes       ☑No
5. Animal usage:Number of animals used during this quarter (3 months): 4Cumulative number of animals used to date: 20
Principal Investigator/Faculty Advisor Signature Date
B 3/18/15
Co-Principal or Student Investigator Signature Date
IACUC REVIEW AND APPROVAL Upon review of the relevant information regarding this protocol, the IACUC approval for this project has been extended for one year from the date of this signature.

APPENDIX

Revised 01/2012 WMU IACUC All other copies obsolete.

7

.

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aboul-Soud, M. A. M., Al-Othman, A. M., El-Desoky, G. E., Al-Othman, Z. A., Yusuf, K., Ahmad, J., & Al-Khedhairy, A. a. (2011). Hepatoprotective effects of vitamin E/selenium against malathion-induced injuries on the antioxidant status and apoptosis-related gene expression in rats. *The Journal of Toxicological Sciences*, *36*(3), 285–96. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21628957
- Ahmed, A. M. (2002). History of diabetes 2002. History of diabetes mellitus Saudi Medical Journal, 23(4), 373–378. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/11953758
- Allen, F. M. (1913). Studies concerning glycosuria and diabetes. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press. Retrieved from https://play.google.com/store/books/details?id=S5wmAQAAIAAJ 85 Andrali, S. S., Qian, Q., & Ozcan, S. (2007). Glucose mediates the translocation of NeuroD1 by O-linked glycosylation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(21), 15589–96. doi:10.1074/jbc.M701762200
- Anthonisen, E. H., Berven, L., Holm, S., Nygård, M., Nebb, H. I., & Grønning-Wang, L. M. (2010). Nuclear receptor liver X receptor is O-GlcNAc-modified in response to glucose. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(3), 1607–15. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M109.082685
- Arkwright-Keeler, D. (2005). The Glucose And Insulin Resposiveness Of The Rat Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase Promoter (*Doctoral Dissertation*). Western Michigan University.
- Azzout-marniche, D., Becard, D., Guichard, C., Foretz, M., Ferre, P., & Foufelle, F. (2000). Insulin effects on sterol regulatory-element-binding protein-1c (SREBP-1c) transcriptional activity in rat hepatocytes. *Biochemical Society*, 350, 389–393. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1221265/
- Backer, J. M., Myers, M. G., Shoelson, S. E., Chin, D. J., Sun, X. J., Miralpeix, M., ... White, M. F. (1992). Phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase is activated by association with IRS-1 during insulin stimulation. *The EMBO Journal*, 11(9), 3469–79. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=556882&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Banting, F. G., Best, C. H., Collip, J. B., Campbell, W. R., & Fletcher, A. A. (1922). Pancreatic extracts in the treatment of diabetes mellitus. *The Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 12(3), 141–6. doi:10.1097/00005053-192401000-00013

Baron, A. D., Zhu, J. S., Zhu, J. H., Weldon, H., Maianu, L., & Garvey, W. T. (1995).

Glucosamine induces insulin resistance in vivo by affecting GLUT 4 translocation in skeletal muscle: Implications for glucose toxicity. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *96*(6), 2792–801. doi:10.1172/JCI118349

- Barzilai, N., Hawkins, M., Angelov, I., Hu, M., & Rossetti, L. (1996). Glucosamineinduced inhibition of liver glucokinase impairs the ability of hyperglycemia to suppress endogenous glucose production. *Diabetes*, 45(10), 1329–35. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8826967
- Becker, D. J., Reul, B., Ozcelikay, A. T., Buchet, J. P., Henquin, J.-C., & Brichard, S. M. (1996). Oral selenate improves glucose homeostasis and partly reverses abnormal expression of liver glycolytic and gluconeogenic enzymes in diabetic rats. *Diabetologia*, 39, 3–11.
- Bekesi, J. G., Bekesi, E., & Winzler, R. J. (1969). Inhibitory effect of D-glucosamine and other sugars on the biosynthesis of protein, ribonucleic acid, and deoxyribonucleic acid in normal and neoplastic tissues. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 244 (14), 3766–72. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5805397
- Bémeur, C., Desjardins, P., & Butterworth, R. F. (2010). Role of nutrition in the management of hepatic encephalopathy in end-stage liver failure. *Journal of Nutrition* and Metabolism, 2010, 489823. doi:10.1155/2010/489823
- Bengoechea-Alonso, M. T., & Ericsson, J. (2009). A phosphorylation cascade controls the degradation of active SREBP1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(9), 5885–95. doi:10.1074/jbc.M807906200
- Berg, E. A., Wu, J. Y., Campbell, L., Kagey, M., & Stapleton, S. R. (1995). Insulin-like effects of vanadate and selenate on the expression of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase and fatty acid synthase in diabetic rats. *Biochimie*, 77(12), 919–24. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8834772
- Bertile, F., & Raclot, T. (2004). mRNA levels of SREBP-1c do not coincide with the changes in adipose lipogenic gene expression. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, *325*(3), 827–34. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.10.110
- Bhalla, K., Hwang, B. J., Dewi, R. E., Ou, L., Twaddel, W., Fang, H.-B., ... Girnun, G. D. (2011). PGC1α promotes tumor growth by inducing gene expression programs supporting lipogenesis. *Cancer Research*, 71(21), 6888–98. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1011
- Bogardus, C., Lillioja, S., Howard, B. V, Reaven, G., & Mott, D. (1984). Relationships between insulin secretion, insulin action, and fasting plasma glucose concentration in nondiabetic and noninsulin-dependent diabetic subjects. *The Journal of Clinical*

Investigation, 74(4), 1238-46. doi:10.1172/JCI111533

- Brown, M. S., & Goldstein, J. L. (2008). Selective versus total insulin resistance: A pathogenic paradox. *Cell Metabolism*, 7(February), 95–96. doi:10.1016/ j.cmet.2007.12.009
- Burgering, B. M., & Coffer, P. J. (1995). Protein kinase B (c-Akt) in phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase signal transduction. *Nature*, 376(6541), 599–602. doi:10.1038/376599a0
- Buse, M. G. (2006). Hexosamines, insulin resistance, and the complications of diabetes: current status. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, *290*, E1–E843. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00329.2005.
- Buse, M. G., Robinson, K. A., Marshall, B. A., Hresko, R. C., & Mueckler, M. M. (2002). Enhanced O-GlcNAc protein modification is associated with insulin resistance in GLUT1-overexpressing muscles. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 283(2), E241–50. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00060.2002
- Calera, M. R., Martinez, C., Liu, H., Jack, A. K. El, Birnbaum, M. J., & Pilch, P. F. (1998). Insulin increases the association of Akt-2 with Glut4-containing vesicles. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(13), 7201–4. Retrieved from http:// www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=2658047&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Cantley, L. C. (2007). From kinase to cancer: The story of discovering PI3 kinase, and what it means for a fundamental pathway in cancer. *The Scientist*, *21*(12), 44. Retrieved from http://classic.the-scientist.com/2007/12/1/44/1/
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2011). *National Diabetes Fact Sheet: National estimates and general information on diabetes and prediabetes in the United States*, 2011. Diabetes. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2011. Retrieved from http:// www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pubs/pdf/ndfs\_2011.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Statistics Report: Estimates of Diabetes and Its Burden in the United States, 2014.* Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2014. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/ statistics/2014statisticsreport.html
- Chandarlapaty, S., Sawai, A., Scaltriti, M., Rodrik-Outmezguine, V., Grbovic-Huezo, O., Serra, V., Majumder, K. P., Baselga, J., Rosen, N. (2011). AKT inhibition relieves feedback suppression of receptor tyrosine kinase expression and activity. *Cancer Cell*, 19(1), 58–71. doi:10.10doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.10.03116/

j.ccr.2010.10.031.AKT

- Chang, L., Chiang, S.-H., & Saltiel, A. R. (2004). Insulin signaling and the regulation of glucose transport. *Molecular Medicine*, 10(7-12), 65–71. doi:10.2119/2005-00029.Saltiel
- Cheatham, B. (2004). Enough is enough: Nutrient sensors and insulin resistance. *Endocrinology*, *145*(5), 2115–7. doi:10.1210/en.2004-0146
- Cross, D. a, Alessi, D. R., Vandenheede, J. R., McDowell, H. E., Hundal, H. S., & Cohen, P. (1994). The inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin or insulinlike growth factor 1 in the rat skeletal muscle cell line L6 is blocked by wortmannin, but not by rapamycin: evidence that wortmannin blocks activation of the mitogenactivated protein kin. *The Biochemical Journal*, 303(*Pt 1*), 21–6. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1137550&tool=pm89 centrez&rendertype=abstract
- Cunard, R. (2013). Mammalian tribbles homologs at the crossroads of endoplasmic reticulum stress and Mammalian target of rapamycin pathways. *Scientifica*, *2013* (Article ID:750871), 1–17. doi:10.1155/2013/750871
- Daniels, M. C., Ciaraldi, T. P., Nikoulina, S., Henry, R. R., & Mcclain, D. A. (1996). Glutamine: Fructose-6-Phosphate Amidotransferase activity in cultured human skeletal muscle cells and regulation by glucose and insulin. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 97(5), 1235–1241. Retrieved from http://www.jci.org/articles/ view/118538/version/1/pdf/render
- Datta, S. R., Dudek, H., Tao, X., Masters, S., Fu, H., Gotoh, Y., & Greenberg, M. E. (1997). Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. *Cell*, 91(2), 231–41. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/9346240
- Dentin, R., Pégorier, J.-P., Benhamed, F., Foufelle, F., Ferré, P., Fauveau, V., ... Postic, C. (2004). Hepatic glucokinase is required for the synergistic action of ChREBP and SREBP-1c on glycolytic and lipogenic gene expression. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(19), 20314–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.M312475200
- Ding, J., Kato, S., & Du, K. (2008). PI3K activates negative and positive signals to regulate TRB3 expression in hepatic cells. *Experimental Cell Research*, 314(7), 1566–74. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2008.01.026
- Dobson, M. (1776). Experiments and observations on the urine in diabetes. *Medical Observations and Inquiries*, (5), 298–310. Retrieved from https://wmich.illiad.oclc.org/ illiad/illiad.dll?Action=10&Form=68

- Du, K., & Ding, J. (2009). Insulin regulates TRB3 and other stress-responsive gene expression through induction of C/EBPbeta. *Molecular Endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.)*, 23(4), 475–85. doi:10.1210/me.2008-0284
- Du, K., Herzig, S., Kulkarni, R. N., & Montminy, M. (2003). TRB3: A tribbles homolog that inhibits Akt/PKB activation by insulin in liver. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 300 (5625), 1574–7. doi:10.1126/science.1079817
- Düvel, K., Yecies, J. L., Menon, S., Raman, P., Alex, I., Souza, A. L., ... Manning, B. D. (2010). Activation of a metabolic gene regulatory network downstream of mTOR complex 1. *Mol Cell.*, 39(2), 171–183. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2010.06.022.Activation
- Ebers, G. (1937). The Papyrus Ebers. In *The Papyrus Ebers* (p. 115). Copenhagen and Oxford: Oxford University Press. Retrieved from https://wmich.illiad.oclc.org/illiad/ illiad.dll?Action=10&Form=69&Value=589735
- Ezaki, O. (1990). The insulin-like effects of selenate in rat adipocytes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 265(2), 1124–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2153102
- Fayard, E., Tintignac, L. A., Baudry, A., & Hemmings, B. A. (2005). Protein kinase B/ Akt at a glance. *Journal of Cell Science*, 118(Pt 24), 5675–8. doi:10.1242/jcs.02724
- Fleischmann, M., & Iynedjian, P. B. (2000). Regulation of sterol regulatory-element binding protein 1 gene expression in liver: Role of insulin and protein kinase B/ cAkt. *Biochemical Journal*, 349, 13–17. Retrieved from http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1221114/
- Fong, D. G., Nehra, V., Lindor, K. D., & Buchman, A. L. (2000). Metabolic and nutritional considerations in nonalcoholic fatty liver. *Hepatology (Baltimore, Md.)*, 32(1), 3–10. doi:10.1053/jhep.2000.8978
- Foretz, M., Pacot, C., Dugail, I., Lemarchand, P., Guichard, C., Le Lièpvre, X., ... Foufelle, F. (1999). ADD1/SREBP-1c is required in the activation of hepatic lipogenic gene expression by glucose. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 19(5), 3760–8. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=84202&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Foufelle, F., Girard, J., & Ferré, P. (1996). Regulation of lipogenic enzyme expression by glucose in liver and adipose tissue: A review of the potential cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Advances in Enzyme Regulation*, 36(5), 199–226. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8869748
- Franke, T. F., Yang, S.-I., Chan, T. O., Datta, K., Kazlauskas, A., Morrison, D. K., ... Tsichlis, P. N. (1995). The protein kinase encoded by the Akt Proto-Oncogene is a
target of the PDGF-Activated Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase. *Cell*, *81*, 727–736. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90534-0

- Fritz, R. S., Stumpo, D. J., & Kletzien, R. F. (1986). Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase mRNA sequence abundance in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *Biochem. J.*, 237, 617–619. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2432874
- Fujimoto, Y., Torres, T. P., Donahue, E. P., & Shiota, M. (2006). Glucose toxicity is responsible for the development of impaired regulation of endogenous glucose production and hepatic glucokinase in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. *Diabetes*, 55(9), 2479– 90. doi:10.2337/db05-1511
- Garvey, W. T., Huecksteadt, T. P., Matthaei, S., & Olefsky, J. M. (1988). Role of glucose transporters in the cellular insulin resistance of type II non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 81(5), 1528–36. doi:10.1172/JCI113485
- Garvey, W. T., Olefsky, J. M., Matthaeig, S., & Marshall, S. (1987). Glucose and Insulin Co-regulate the Glucose Transport System in Primary Cultured Adipocytes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 262(1), 189–197. Retrieved from http:// www.jbc.org/content/262/1/189.full.pdf
- Ghosh, R., Mukherjee, B., & Chatterjee, M. (1994). A novel effect of selenium on streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. *Diabetes Research*, *25*(4), 165–171. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7648787
- Giaccar, A., Morviducci, L., Zorretta, D., Sbraccia, P., Leonetti, F., Caiola, S., ... R. C. Bonadonna Tamburrano, G. (1995). In vivo effects of glucosamine on insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity in the rat: Possible relevance to the maladaptive responses to chronic hyperglycaemia. *Diabetologia*, 38(5), 518–524. doi:10.1007/ BF00400719
- Giandomenico, V., Simonsson, M., Gro, E., & Ericsson, J. (2003). Coactivatordependent acetylation stabilizes members of the SREBP family of transcription factors. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(7), 2587–2599. doi:10.1128/ MCB.23.7.2587
- Goodridge, A. G., Carpenter, W. R., Fisch, J. E., Goldman, M. J., Kameda, K., & Stapleton, S. R. (1989). Structure and regulation of the avian gene for fatty acid synthase. *Reproduction Nutrition Development*, 29, 359–375.
- Gould, G. W., & Holman, G. D. (1993). The glucose transporter family: Structure, function and tissue-specific expression. *The Biochemical Journal*, 295(Pt 2), 329–41. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?

artid=1134886&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract

- Hart, G. W., Slawson, C., Ramirez-Correa, G., & Lagerlof, O. (2011). Cross talk between O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation: Roles in signaling, transcription, and chronic disease. *Annu Rev Biochem.*, 80, 825–858. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-060608-102511.Cross
- Hassel P, J. R., Kimura, J. H., & Hascal, V. C. (1986). Proteoglycan core protein families. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 55(July), 539–567. doi:10.1146/ annurev.bi.55.070186.002543
- Hasty, a H., Shimano, H., Yahagi, N., Amemiya-Kudo, M., Perrey, S., Yoshikawa, T., ... Yamada, N. (2000). Sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1 is regulated by glucose at the transcriptional level. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(40), 31069–77. doi:10.1074/jbc.M003335200
- Hawkins, M., Hu, M., Yu, J., Eder, H., Vuguin, P., She, L., ... Rossetti, L. (1999). Discordant effects of glucosamine on insulin-stimulated glucose metabolism and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(44), 31312–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10531330
- He, L., Simmen, F. A., Mehendale, H. M., Ronis, M. J. J., & Badger, T. M. (2006). Chronic ethanol intake impairs insulin signaling in rats by disrupting Akt association with the cell membrane. Role of TRB3 in inhibition of Akt/protein kinase B activation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(16), 11126–34. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M510724200
- Heart, E., & Sung, C. K. (2003). Insulin-like and non-insulin-like selenium actions in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 88, 719–731. doi:10.1002/ jcb.10395
- Hegedus, Z., Czibula, A., & Kiss-Toth, E. (2006). Tribbles: Novel regulators of cell function; evolutionary aspects. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS*, 63 (14), 1632–41. doi:10.1007/s00018-006-6007-9
- Hei, Y. J., Farahbakhshian, S., Chen, X., Battell, M. L., & McNeill, J. H. (1998). Stimulation of MAP kinase and S6 kinase by vanadium and selenium in rat adipocytes. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 178(1-2), 367–75. Retrieved from http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9546621
- Hemmings, B. a, & Restuccia, D. F. (2012). PI3K-PKB/Akt pathway. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 4(9), 1–3. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a011189
- Himsworth, H. P. (1936). Diabetes mellitus: Its differentiation into insulin-sensitive and insulin-insensitive types. *The Lancet (Reprinted in Diabet. Med. 28, 1440–1444*

(2011)), 227(5854), 127–130. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.3508.x

- Hirahatake, K. M., Meissen, J. K., Fiehn, O., & Adams, S. H. (2011). Comparative effects of fructose and glucose on lipogenic gene expression and intermediary metabolism in HepG2 liver cells. *PloS One*, 6(11), e26583. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0026583
- Hirano, Y., Yoshida, M., Shimizu, M., & Sato, R. (2001). Direct demonstration of rapid degradation of nuclear sterol regulatory element-binding proteins by the ubiquitinproteasome pathway. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(39), 36431–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M105200200
- Holts, G. D., & Hart, G. W. (1986). The Subcellular Distribution of Terminal N-Acetylglucosamine Moieties. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 261(17), 8049–4305. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3086323
- Horton, J. D., Bashmakov, Y., Shimomura, I., & Shimano, H. (1998). Regulation of sterol regulatory element binding proteins in livers of fasted and refed mice. *Biochemistry*, 95, 5987–5992. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/9600904
- Iii, W. J. Q., & Birnbaum, M. J. (2012). Distinct mTORC1 pathways for transcription and cleavage of SREBP-1c. *PNAS*, 109(40), 15974–15975. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1214113109
- Issad, T., Masson, E., & Pagesy, P. (2010). O-GlcNAc modification, insulin signaling and diabetic complications. *Diabetes & Metabolism*, 36(6 Pt 1), 423–35. doi:10.1016/j.diabet.2010.09.001
- Iynedjian, P. B. (2005). Lack of evidence for a role of TRB3/NIPK as an inhibitor of PKB-mediated insulin signalling in primary hepatocytes. *The Biochemical Journal*, 386(Pt 1), 113–8. doi:10.1042/BJ20041425
- Jiali Wang, R. L., Hawkins, M., Barzilai, N., & Rossetti, & L. (1998). A nutrientsensing pathway regulates leptin gene expression in muscle and fat. *Letters to Nature*, 393(June), 684–688. Retrieved from https://wmich.illiad.oclc.org/illiad/ illiad.dll?Action=10&Form=75&Value=693168
- Jope, R. S., & Johnson, G. V. W. (2004). The glamour and gloom of glycogen synthase kinase-3. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 29(2), 95–102. doi:10.1016/ j.tibs.2003.12.004
- Joseph, V. M., & Osker, M. (1889). Diabetes mellitus nach Pankreasexstirpation. Archiv Fur Experimentelle Patholgie Und Pharmakologie, 10(23), 393–394.

- Kakuma, T., Lee, Y., Higa, M., Wang, Z. W., Pan, W., Shimomura, I., & Unger, R. H. (2000). Leptin, troglitazone, and the expression of sterol regulatory element binding proteins in liver and pancreatic islets. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(15), 8536–41. Retrieved from http:// www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=26983&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Kamemura, K., & W, H. (2003). Dynamic interplay between O-glycosylation and Ophosphorylation of nucleocytoplasmic proteins: A new paradigm for metabolic control of signal transduction and transcription. *Progress in Nucleic Acid Rsearch and Molecular Biology*, 73, 107–36. doi:doi:10.1016/S0079-6603(03)01004-3
- Keller, S. R., Kitagawa, K., Aedersold, R., Lienhard, G. E., & Garner, C. W. (1991). Isolation and Characterization of the160,000-Da Phosphotyrosyl Protein, a Putative Participant in Insulin Signaling. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(20), 12817–12820.
- Kim, J. B., Sarraf, P., Wright, M., Yao, K. M., Mueller, E., Solanes, G., ... Spiegelman, B. M. (1998). Nutritional and insulin regulation of fatty acid synthetase and leptin gene expression through ADD1/SREBP1. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101, 1–9. doi:doi.org/10.1172/JCI1411
- Kim, J. E., Choi, S. Il, Lee, H. R., Hwang, I. S., Lee, Y. J., An, B. S., ... Hwang, D. Y. (2012). Selenium significantly inhibits adipocyte hypertrophy and abdominal fat accumulation in OLETF rats via induction of fatty acid β-oxidation. *Biological Trace Element Research*, *150*(1-3), 360–70. doi:10.1007/s12011-012-9519-1
- Kim, K. H., Song, M. J., Yoo, E. J., Choe, S. S., Park, S. D., & Kim, J. B. (2004). Regulatory role of glycogen synthase kinase 3 for transcriptional activity of ADD1/ SREBP1c. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(50), 51999–2006. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M405522200
- Klippel, A., Kavanaugh, W. M., Pot, D., & Williams, L. T. (1997). A specific product of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase directly activates the protein kinase Akt through its pleckstrin homology domain. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 17(1), 338–44. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=231758&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Koo, S.-H., Satoh, H., Herzig, S., Lee, C.-H., Hedrick, S., Kulkarni, R., ... Montminy, M. (2004). PGC-1 promotes insulin resistance in liver through PPAR-alphadependent induction of TRB-3. *Nature Medicine*, *10*(5), 530–4. doi:10.1038/ nm1044

Korczynska, J., Stelmanska, E., Nogalska, A., Szolkiewicz, M., Goyke, E., Swierczyn-

ski, J., & Rutkowski, B. (2004). Upregulation of lipogenic enzymes genes expression in white adipose tissue of rats with chronic renal failure is associated with higher level of sterol regulatory element binding protein-1. *Metabolism*, *53*(8), 1060 –1065. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2004.02.015

- Kreppel, L. K., Blomberg, M. A., & Hart, G. W. (1997). Dynamic glycosylation of nuclear and cytosolic proteins. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(14), 9308–9315. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.14.9308
- Krycer, J. R., Sharpe, L. J., Luu, W., & Brown, A. J. (2010). The Akt-SREBP nexus: cell signaling meets lipid metabolism. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism: TEM*, 21(5), 268–76. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2010.01.001
- Kurtz, J. W., & Wells, W. W. (1981). Induction of Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase in primary cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 256(21), 10870–10875. Retrieved from https://wmich.illiad.oclc.org/illiad/illiad.dll? Action=10&Form=75&Value=630833
- Laczy, B., Hill, B. G., Wang, K., Paterson, A. J., White, C. R., Xing, D., ... Chatham, J. C. (2009). Protein O-GlcNAcylation: A new signaling paradigm for the cardiovascular system. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 296 (1), H13–28. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.01056.2008
- Laliotis, G. P., Bizelis, I., Argyrokastritis, A., & Rogdakis, E. (2007). Cloning, characterization and computational analysis of the 5' regulatory region of ovine glucose 6phosphate dehydrogenase gene. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part B, Biochemistry & Molecular Biology*, 147(4), 627–34. doi:10.1016/.cbpb.2007.04.001
- Laplante, M., & Sabatini, D. M. (2010). mTORC1 activates SREBP-1c and uncouples lipogenesis from gluconeogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 107(8), 3281–2. doi:10.1073/pnas.1000323107
- Levine, R., Goldstein, Mm. S., Huddlestun, B., & Klein, S. P. (1950). Action of insulin on the "permeability" of cells to free hexoses, as studied by its effect on the distribution of galactose. *American Journal of Physiology*, 163(1), 70–76. Retrieved from http://ajplegacy.physiology.org/content/163/1/70
- Li, S., Brown, M. S., & Goldstein, J. L. (2010). Bifurcation of insulin signaling pathway in rat liver: mTORC1 required for stimulation of lipogenesis, but not inhibition of gluconeogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(8), 3441–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0914798107
- Li, X., Monks, B., Ge, Q., & Birnbaum, M. J. (2007). Akt/PKB regulates hepatic me-

tabolism by directly inhibiting PGC-1alpha transcription coactivator. *Nature*, 447 (7147), 1012–6. doi:10.1038/nature05861

- Liang, G., Yang, J., Horton, J. D., Hammer, R. E., Goldstein, J. L., & Brown, M. S. (2002). Diminished hepatic response to fasting/refeeding and liver X receptor agonists in mice with selective deficiency of sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(11), 9520–9528. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M111421200
- Liu, J., Wu, X., Franklin, J. L., Messina, J. L., Hill, H. S., Moellering, D. R., ...Garvey, W. T. (2010). Mammalian Tribbles homolog 3 impairs insulin action in skeletal muscle: Role in glucose-induced insulin resistance. *American Journal of Physiology*. *Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 298(3), E565–76. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00467.2009
- Liu, J., Zhang, W., Chuang, G. C., Hill, H. S., Tian, L., Fu, Y., ... Garvey, W. T. (2012). Role of TRIB3 in regulation of insulin sensitivity and nutrient metabolism during short-term fasting and nutrient excess. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinol*ogy and Metabolism, 303(7), E908–16. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00663.2011
- Lombardi, A., Ulianich, L., Treglia, A. S., Nigro, C., Parrillo, L., Lofrumento, D. D., ... Di Jeso, B. (2012). Increased hexosamine biosynthetic pathway flux dedifferentiates INS-1E cells and murine islets by an extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)1/2mediated signal transmission pathway. *Diabetologia*, 55(1), 141–53. doi:10.1007/ s00125-011-2315-1
- Marshall, S., Bacote, V., & Traxinger, R. R. (1991). Discovery of a metabolic pathway mediating glucose-induced desensitization of the glucose transport system. Role of hexosamine biosynthesis in the induction of insulin resistance. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(8), 4706–12. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/2002019
- Matsushima, R., Harada, N., Webster, N. J. G., Tsutsumi, Y. M., & Nakaya, Y. (2006). Effect of TRB3 on insulin and nutrient-stimulated hepatic p70 S6 kinase activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(40), 29719–29729. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M511636200
- Matsuzaka, T., Shimano, H., Yahagi, N., Amemiya-Kudo, M., Okazaki, H., Tamura, Y., ... Yamada, N. (2004). Insulin-independent induction of sterol regulatory elementbinding protein-1c expression in the livers of streptozotocin-treated mice. *Diabetes*, 53(March), 560–569. doi:10.2337/diabetes.53.3.560
- Mayumi-Matsuda, K., Kojima, S., Suzuki, H., & Sakata, Tt. (1999). Identification of a novel kinase-like gene induced during neuronal cell death. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 258(2), 260–4. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999.0576

- McClain, D. A. (2002). Hexosamines as mediators of nutrient sensing and regulation in diabetes. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications*, 16(1), 72–80. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11872372
- McClain, D. A., Hazel, M., Parker, G., & Cooksey, R. C. (2005). Adipocytes with increased hexosamine flux exhibit insulin resistance, increased glucose uptake, and increased synthesis and storage of lipid. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 288, E973 –E979. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00549.2004
- McNeill, J. H., Delgatty L.M., H., & Battell, M. (1991). Insulinlike effects of sodium selenate in streptozocin-induced diabetic rats. *Diabetes*, 40, 1675–78. Retrieved from http://diabetes.diabetesjournals.org/content/40/12/1675.full.pdf
- McPherson, K. (2013). Study of the Insulin Mimetic Sodium Orthovanadate in Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance in Primary Rat Hepatocytes (Thesis). Western Michigan University. Retrieved from http://wmich.summon.serialssolutions.com/ document/show?id=FETCHMERGEDwmich catalog 33825841&s.q=kalan+mcpherson
- Meier, R., & Hemmings, B. A. (1999). Regulation of protein kinase B. Journal of Receptor & Signal Transduction Research, 19(1-4), 121–128. doi:10.3109/10799899909036639
- Memon, R. A., Grunfeld, C., Moser, A. H., & Feingold, K. R. (1994). Fatty acid synthesis in obese insulin resistant diabetic mice. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 26(2), 85–87. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8200619
- Michael, M. D., Kulkarni, R. N., Postic, C., Previs, S. F., Shulman, G. I., Magnuson, M. A., & Kahn, C. R. (2000). Loss of insulin signaling in hepatocytes leads to severe insulin resistance and progressive hepatic dysfunction. *Molecular Cell*, *6*, 87–97. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(05)00015-8
- Miyamoto, K., Hase, K., Takagi, T., Fujii, T., Taketani, Y., Minami, H., ... Nakabou, Y. (1993). Differential responses of intestinal glucose transporter mRNA transcripts to levels of dietary sugars. *The Biochemical Journal*, 295(Pt 1), 211–5. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=1134840&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Morse, E., Schroth, J., You, Y.-H., Pizzo, D. P., Okada, S., Ramachandrarao, S., ... Cunard, R. (2010). TRB3 is stimulated in diabetic kidneys, regulated by the ER stress marker CHOP, and is a suppressor of podocyte MCP-1. *American Journal of Physiology. Renal Physiology*, 299(5), F965–72. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00236.2010

Moustaïd, N., Beyer, R. S., & Sul, H. S. (1994). Identification of an insulin response

element in the fatty acid synthase promoter. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269(8), 5629–5634. Retrieved from http://www.jbc.org/content/269/8/5629.long

- Mueller, A. S., Bosse, A. C., Most, E., Klomann, S. D., Schneider, S., & Pallauf, J. (2009). Regulation of the insulin antagonistic protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B by dietary Se studied in growing rats. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 20(4), 235–47. doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2008.02.007
- Mueller, A. S., Klomann, S. D., Wolf, N. M., Schneider, S., Schmidt, R., Spielmann, J., ... Pallauf, J. (2008). Redox regulation of protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B by manipulation of dietary selenium affects the triglyceride concentration in rat liver. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 138, 2328–2336. doi:10.3945/jn.108.089482.acid
- Mueller, A. S., & Pallauf, J. (2006). Compendium of the antidiabetic effects of supranutritional selenate doses. In vivo and in vitro investigations with type II diabetic db/db mice. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 17(8), 548–60. doi:10.1016/ j.jnutbio.2005.10.006
- Neufeld, T. P., & Arsham, A. M. (2010). tRNA trafficking along the TOR pathway. *Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex.)*, 9(16), 3146–7. doi:10.4161/cc.9.16.12781
- Nicoletti-Carvalho, J. E., Nogueira, T. C. A., Gorjão, R., Bromati, C. R., Yamanaka, T. S., Boschero, A. C., ... Bordin, S. (2010). UPR-mediated TRIB3 expression correlates with reduced AKT phosphorylation and inability of interleukin 6 to overcome palmitate-induced apoptosis in RINm5F cells. *The Journal of Endocrinology*, 206 (2), 183–93. doi:10.1677/JOE-09-0356
- Oberkofler, H., Pfeifenberger, A., Soyal, S., Felder, T., Hahne, P., Miller, K., ... Patsch, W. (2010). Aberrant hepatic TRIB3 gene expression in insulin-resistant obese humans. *Diabetologia*, 53(9), 1971–5. doi:10.1007/s00125-010-1772-2
- Okamoto, H., Latres, E., Liu, R., Thabet, K., Murphy, A., Valenzeula, D., ... Sleeman, M. W. (2007). Genetic deletion of Trb3, the mammalian Drosophila tribbles homolog, displays normal hepatic insulin signaling and glucose homeostasis. *Blood*, 56 (May), 1350–1326. doi:10.2337/db06-1448.Additional
- Ono, H., Shimano, H., Katagiri, H., Yahagi, N., Sakoda, H., Onishi, Y., ... Asano, T. (2003). Hepatic Akt activation induces marked hypoglycemia, hepatomegaly, and hypertriglyceridemia with sterol regulatory element binding protein involvement. *Diabetes*, 52(12), 2905–2913. doi:10.2337/diabetes.52.12.2905
- Ostertag, A., Jones, A., Rose, A. J., Liebert, M., Kleinsorg, S., Reimann, A., ... Herzig, S. (2010). Control of adipose tissue inflammation through TRB1. *Diabetes*, 59(8), 1991–2000. doi:10.2337/db09-1537

- Owen, J. L., Zhang, Y., Bae, S.-H., Farooqi, M. S., Liang, G., Hammer, R. E., ... Brown, M. S. (2012). Insulin stimulation of SREBP-1c processing in transgenic rat hepatocytes requires p70 S6-kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(40), 16184–9. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1213343109
- Pang, Y., Bounelis, P., Chatham, J. C., & Marchase, R. B. (2004). Hexosamine pathway is responsible for inhibition by diabetes of phenylephrine-induced inotropy. *Diabetes*, 53(4), 1074–1081.
- Park, S. Y., Ryu, J., & Wan, L. (2005). O-GlcNAc m odification on IRS-1 and Akt2 by PUGNAc inhibits their phosphorylation and induces insulin resistance in rat primary adipocytes. *Experimental and Molecular Medicine*, 37(3), 220–229. Retrieved from http://www.e-emm.or.kr/search read.htm?page=220&year=2005&vol=37
- Patti, M. E., Virkamäki, A., Landaker, E. J., Kahn, C. R., & Yki-Järvinen, H. (1999).
  Activation of the hexosamine pathway by glucosamine in vivo induces insulin resistance of early postreceptor insulin signaling events in skeletal muscle. *Diabetes*, 48 (8), 1562–71. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10426374
- Paulauskis, J. D., & Sul, H. S. (1989). Hormonal regulation of mouse fatty acid synthase gene transcription in liver. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264(1), 574–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2535847
- Payne, V. A., Au, W.-S., Lowe, C. E., Rahman, S. M., Friedman, E. J., O'rahilly, S., & Rochford, J. J. (2012). C/EBP transcription factors regulate SREBP1c gene expression during adipogenesis. *Biochem J.*, 29(6), 997–1003. doi:10.1016/ j.biotechadv.2011.08.021.Secreted
- Penuel, E., & Martin, G. S. (1999). Transformation by v-Src: Ras-MAPK and PI3KmTOR mediate parallel pathways. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 10(6), 1693–703. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=25360&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Petruzzelli, L. M., Ganguly, S., Smith, C. J., Cobb, M. H., Rubin, C. S., & Rosen, O. M. (1982). Insulin activates a tyrosine-specific protein kinase in extracts of 3T3-LI adipocytes and human placenta. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 79(22), 6792–6. Retrieved from http:// www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=347219&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Pillay, T. S., & Makgoba, M. W. (1992). Enhancement of epidermal growth factor (EGF) and insulin-stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation of endogenous substrates by sodium selenate. *FEBS Letters*, 308(1), 38–42. Retrieved from http://

www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1644202

- Postic, C., & Girard, J. (2008). Contribution of de novo fatty acid synthesis to hepatic steatosis and insulin resistance: Lessons from genetically engineered mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *118*(3), 829–838. doi:10.1172/ JCI34275.accumulation
- Price, W. I., Cori, C. F., & Colowick, S. P. (1945). The effect of anterior pituitary extract and of insulin on the hexokinase reaction. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *160*(2), 633–634. Retrieved from http://www.jbc.org/ content/160/2/633.full.pdf+html
- Puchau, B., Zulet, M., Gonzalez de Echavarri, A., Navarro-Blasco, I., & Martinez, J. (2009). Selenium intake reduces serum C3, an early marker of metabolic syndrome manifestation, in healthy young adults. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. doi:10.1038
- Punga, T., Bengoechea-Alonso, M. T., & Ericsson, J. (2006). Phosphorylation and ubiquitination of the transcription factor sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1 in response to DNA binding. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(35), 25278–86. doi:10.1074/jbc.M604983200
- Radenne, A., Akpa, M., Martel, C., Sawadogo, S., Mauvoisin, D., & Mounier, C. (2008). Hepatic regulation of fatty acid synthase by insulin and T 3: Evidence for T3 genomic and nongenomic actions. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 8(295), 884–894. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.90438.2008.
- Rayman, M. P. (2000). The importance of selenium to human health. *The Lancet*, *356*, 233–241. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02490-9
- Richardson, T., & Kerr, D. (2003). Skin-related complications of insulin therapy: epidemiology and emerging management strategies. *American Journal of Clinical Dermatology*, 4(10), 661–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/14507228
- Robinson, K. A., Sens, D. A., & Buse, M. G. (1993). Pre-exposure to glucosamine induces insulin resistance of glucose transport and glycogen synthesis in isolated rat skeletal muscles. *Diabetes*, 42(September), 1333–1346. Retrieved from http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8349045
- Rollo, J. (1798). Two cases of the diabetes mellitus. London: T. Gillet for C. Dilly. Retrieved from https://wmich.illiad.oclc.org
- Rome, S., Clément, K., Rabasa-Lhoret, R., Loizon, E., Poitou, C., Barsh, G. S., ... Vidal, H. (2003). Microarray profiling of human skeletal muscle reveals that insulin

regulates approximately 800 genes during a hyperinsulinemic clamp. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(20), 18063–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M300293200

- Rome, S., Lecomte, V., Meugnier, E., Rieusset, J., Debard, C., Euthine, V., ... Lefai, E. (2008). Microarray analyses of SREBP-1a and SREBP-1c target genes identify new regulatory pathways in muscle. *Physiological Genomics*, 34(3), 327–37. doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.90211.2008
- Rossetti, L., Hawkins, M., Chen, W., Gindi, J., & Barzilai, N. (1995). In vivo glucosamine infusion induces insulin resistance in normoglycemic but not in hyperglycemic conscious rats. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 96(1), 132–40. doi:10.1172/ JCI118013
- Ruan, H.-B., Singh, J. P., Li, M.-D., Wu, J., & Yang, X. (2013). Cracking the O-GlcNAc code in metabolism. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism: TEM*, 24 (6), 301–9. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2013.02.002
- Ruderman, N. B., Kapeller, R., Whites, M. F., & Cantley, L. C. (1990). Activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by insulin. *Cell*, 87(February), 1411–1415. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC53485/
- Rufo, C., Teran-Garcia, M., Nakamura, M. T., Koo, S. H., Towle, H. C., & Clarke, S. D. (2001). Involvement of a unique carbohydrate-responsive factor in the glucose regulation of rat liver fatty-acid synthase gene transcription. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(24), 21969–75. doi:10.1074/jbc.M100461200
- Rumberger, J. M., Wu, T., Hering, M. A., & Marshall, S. (2003). Role of hexosamine biosynthesis in glucose-mediated up-regulation of lipogenic enzyme mRNA levels: Effects of glucose, glutamine, and glucosamine on glycerophosphate dehydrogenase, fatty acid synthase, and acetyl-CoA carboxylase mRNA levels. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(31), 28547–52. doi:10.1074/jbc.M302793200
- Sage, A. T., Walter, L. A., Shi, Y., Khan, M. I., Kaneto, H., Capretta, A., & Werstuck, G. H. (2010). Hexosamine biosynthesis pathway flux promotes endoplasmic reticulum stress, lipid accumulation, and inflammatory gene expression in hepatic cells. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 298(5), 499–511. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00507.2009.
- Salati, L. M., Szeszel-Fedorowicz, W., Tao, H., Gibson, M. A., Amir-ahmady, B., Stabile, L. P., & Hodge, D. L. (2004). Nutrition and gene regulation nutritional regulation of mRNA processing. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134, 2437–2443. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/content/134/9/2437S.long
- Schwarz, J. M., Linfoot, P., Dare, D., & Aghajanian, K. (2003). Hepatic de novo lipogenesis in normoinsulinemic and hyperinsulinemic subjects consuming high-fat, low

-carbohydrate and low-fat, high-carbohydrate isoenergetic diets. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 77, 43–50. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12499321

- Schwarzer, R., Dames, S., Tondera, D., Klippel, A., & Kaufmann, J. (2006). TRB3 is a PI 3-kinase dependent indicator for nutrient starvation. *Cellular Signalling*, 18(6), 899–909. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2005.08.002
- Selim, E., Frkanec, J. T., & Cunard, R. (2007). Fibrates upregulate TRB3 in lymphocytes independent of PPAR alpha by augmenting CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta (C/EBP beta) expression. *Molecular Immunology*, 44(6), 1218–1229. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2006.06.006
- Sherwin, R. S. (1980). Role of the liver in glucose homeostasis. *Diabetes Care*, *3*(2), 261–5. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6993137
- Shimano, H., Yahagi, N., Amemiya-Kudo, Mm., Hasty, A. H., Osuga, J., Tamura, Y., ... Yamada, N. (1999). Sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1 as a key transcription factor for nutritional induction of lipogenic enzyme genes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(50), 35832–9. Retrieved from http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10585467
- Shirato, K., Nakajima, K., Korekane, H., Takamatsu, S., Gao, C., Angata, T., ... Taniguchi, N. (2011). Hypoxic regulation of glycosylation via the Nacetylglucosamine cycle. *J Clin Biochem Nutr*, 48(1), 20–25. doi:10.3164/jcbn.11015FR
- Shonka, I. (1960). On the clinical significance of the pentose cycle. *Klinicheskaya Med-itsina (Clinical Medicine)*, 38(7), 3–12. Retrieved from http://www.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a381993.pdf
- Sirek, A. S., Liu, L., Naples, M., Adeli, K., Ng, D. S., & Jin, T. (2009). Insulin stimulates the expression of carbohydrate response element binding protein (ChREBP) by attenuating the repressive effect of Pit-1, Oct-1/Oct-2, and Unc-86 homeodomain protein octamer transcription factor-1. *Endocrinology*, 150(8), 3483–92. doi:10.1210/en.2008-1702
- Spolarics, Z. (1999). A carbohydrate-rich diet stimulates glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase expression in rat hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 129(1), 105–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9915883
- Stapleton, S. R. (2000). Selenium: an insulin-mimetic. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS, 57(13-14), 1874–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/11215514

Stapleton, S. R., Garlock, G. L., Foellmi-Adams, L., & Kletzien, R. F. (1997). Sele-

nium: potent stimulator of tyrosyl phosphorylation and activator of MAP kinase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, *1355*(3), 259–69. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9060997

- Stapleton, S. R., Stevens, G. J., Teel, J. F., Rank, K. E., Wu, J. Y., & Gindberg, L. C. (1993). Effects of acetaldehyde on glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase activity and mRNA levels in primary rat hepatocytes in culture, 75(11), 971–976. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8123704
- Steinbrenner, H. (2013). Interference of selenium and selenoproteins with the insulinregulated carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, 65, 1538–47. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.07.016
- Stumpo, D. J., & Kletzien, R. F. (1984). Regulation of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase mRNA by insulin and the glucocorticoids in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *European Journal of Biochemistry / FEBS*, 144(3), 497–502. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6386474
- Sugimoto, Y., Whitman, M., Cantley, L. C., & Erikson, R. L. (1984). Evidence that the Rous sarcoma virus transforming gene product phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol and diacylglycerol. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 81(7), 2117–21. Retrieved from http:// www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=345448&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Sul, H. S., Latasa, M., Moon, Y., & Kim, K. (2000). Regulation of the Fatty Acid Synthase Promoter by Insulin. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 130, 315–320. Retrieved from http://jn.nutrition.org/content/130/2/315.full.pdf
- Takahashi, Y., Ohoka, N., Hayashi, H., & Sato, R. (2008). TRB3 suppresses adipocyte differentiation by negatively regulating PPARgamma transcriptional activity. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 49(4), 880–92. doi:10.1194/jlr.M700545-JLR200
- Tang, M., Zhong, M., Shang, Y., Lin, H., Deng, J., Jiang, H., ... Zhang, W. (2008). Differential regulation of collagen types I and III expression in cardiac fibroblasts by AGEs through TRB3/MAPK signaling pathway. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences: CMLS*, 65(18), 2924–32. doi:10.1007/s00018-008-8255-3
- Taylor, R. P., Parker, G. J., Hazel, M. W., Soesanto, Y., Fuller, W., Yazzie, M. J., & McClain, D. a. (2008). Glucose deprivation stimulates O-GlcNAc modification of proteins through up-regulation of O-linked N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(10), 6050–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M707328200

Thekkat, P. U. (2007). Transcriptional regulation of glucose-6-phosphate dehydro-

genase (G6PDH) by glucose. (Thesis). Western Michigan University.

- Thomas, S., & Fell, D. A. (1998). The Role of Multiple Enzyme Activation in Metabolic Flux Control. *Adv Enzyme Regul.*, 38, 65–85. Retrieved from http:// www.ufv.br/dbv/pgfvg/bve684/htms/pdfs revisao/metabolismo/fluxcontrol.pdf
- Tontonoz, P., Kim, J. A. E. B. U. M., Graves, R. A., & Spiegelman, B. M. (1993). ADD1: A novel helix-loop-helix transcription factor associated with adipocyte determination and differentiation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 13(8), 4753–4759. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC360101/pdf/ molcellb00020-0309.pdf
- Torres, C.-R., & Hart, G. W. (1984). Topography and polypeptide distribution of terminal N-acetylglucosamine residues on the surfaces of intact lymphocytes. *The Journal* of *Biological Chemistry*, 259(5), 3308–3317. Retrieved from http://www.jbc.org/ content/259/5/3308.long
- Traxinger, R. R., & Marshall, S. Recovery of maximal insulin responsiveness and insulin sensitivity after induction of insulin resistance in primary cultured adipocytes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 264(14), 8156–63. Retrieved from http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2656674
- Traxinger, R. R., & Marshall, S. (n.d.). Role of amino acids in modulating glucoseinduced desensitization of the glucose transport system. *The Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, 264(35), 20910–20916. Retrieved from http://www.jbc.org/ content/264/35/20910.long
- Uldry, M., Ibberson, M., Hosokawa, M., & Thorens, B. (2002). GLUT2 is a high affinity glucosamine transporter. *FEBS Letters*, *524*(1-3), 199–203. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12135767
- Vatner, D. F., Majumdar, S. K., Kumashiro, N., Petersen, M. C., Rahimi, Y., Gattu, A. K., ... Shulman, G. I. (2015). Insulin-independent regulation of hepatic triglyceride synthesis by fatty acids. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112(4), 1143–1148. doi:10.1073/pnas.1423952112
- Veerababu, G., Tang, J., Hoffman, R. T., Daniels, M. C., Jr, L. F. H., Crook, E. D., ... Mcclain, D. A. (2000). Overexpression of glutamine:fructose-6-phosphate amidotransferase in the liver of transgenic mice results in enhanced glycogen storage, hyperlipidemia, obesity, and impaired glucose tolerance. *Diabetes*, 49(December), 2070–2078.
- Veetil, S. N. A. (2011). Glucosamine Induced Insulin Resistance In Primary Rat Hepatocytes And The Role Of Selenium As An Insulin Mimetic (Doctoral Dissertation).

Western Michigan University.

- Virkamaki, A. (1997). Activation of the hexosamine pathway by glucosamine in vivo induces insulin resistance in multiple insulin sensitive tissues. *Endocrinology*, *138* (6), 2501–2507. doi:10.1210/en.138.6.2501
- Virkamäki, A., & Yki-Järvinen, H. (1999). Allosteric regulation of glycogen synthase and hexokinase by glucosamine-6-phosphate during glucosamine-induced insulin resistance in skeletal muscle and heart. *Diabetes*, 48(5), 1101–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10331416
- Vlahos, C. J., Matter, W. F., Hui, K. Y., & Brown, F. R. (1994). A Specific inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, 2-(4-Morpholinyl)-8-phenyl-4H-l-benzopyran-4-one (LY294002). *Biochemistry*, 269(7), 5241–5248. Retrieved from http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8106507
- Vosseller, K., Wells, L., Lane, M. D., & Hart, G. W. (2002). Elevated nucleocytoplasmic glycosylation by O-GlcNAc results in insulin resistance associated with defects in Akt activation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(8), 5313–8. doi:10.1073/ pnas.072072399
- Wagle, a, Jivraj, S., Garlock, G. L., & Stapleton, S. R. (1998). Insulin regulation of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase gene expression is rapamycin-sensitive and requires phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(24), 14968–74. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9614103
- Wang, D., & Sul, H. S. (1998a). Insulin stimulation of the fatty acid synthase promoter is mediated by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(39), 25420–25426. Retrieved from http://www.jbc.org
- Wang, D., & Sul, H. S. (1998b). Nucleic acids, protein synthesis, and molecular Genetics: insulin stimulation of the fatty acid synthase promoter is mediated by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway: involvement of protein kinase B/akt. *The Journal* of *Biological Chemistry*, 273(39), 25420–25426. Retrieved from http://www.jbc.org/ content/273/39/25420
- Wang, X., Zhang, W., Chen, H., Liao, N., Wang, Z., Zhang, X., & Hai, C. (2014). High selenium impairs hepatic insulin sensitivity through opposite regulation of ROS. *Toxicology Letters*, 224(1), 16–23. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2013.10.005
- Wang, Y.-G. (2009). Signal transduction mechanism of TRB3 in rats with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *World Journal of Gastroenterology*, 15(19), 2329. doi:10.3748/ wjg.15.2329

- Wasef, S. Z. Y., Robinson, K. A., Berkaw, M. N., & Buse, M. G. (2006). Glucose, dexamethasone, and the unfolded protein response regulate TRB3 mRNA expression in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes. *American Journal of ..., 291*, 1274–1280. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00117.2006.
- Welsh, G. I., & Proud, C. G. (1993). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is rapidly inactivated in response to insulin and phosphorylates eukaryotic initiation factor eIF-2B. *The Biochemical Journal*, 294(Pt 3), 625–9. Retrieved from http:// www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=1134506&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- White, M. F., Maron, R., & Kahn, R. C. (1985). Insulin rapidly stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of a Mr-185,000 protein in intact cells. *Nature*, 318(6042), 183– 186. Retrieved from http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v318/n6042/ pdf/318183a0.pdf
- Whitman, M., Downes, C. P., Keeler, M., Keller, T., & Cantley, L. (1988). Type I phosphatidylinositol kinase makes a novel inositol phospholipid, phosphatidylinositol-3phosphate. *Nature*, 332(April), 644–646. Retrieved from http://www.nature.com/ nature/journal/v332/n6165/abs/332644a0.html
- Wilcox, G. (2005). Insulin and insulin resistance. *The Clinical Biochemist. Reviews/ Australian Association of Clinical Biochemists*, *26*(2), 19–39. Retrieved from http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17292727
- Wilkin, F., Suarez-Huerta, N., Robaye, B., Peetermans, J., Libert, F., Dumont, J. E., & Maenhaut, C. (1997). Characterization of a phosphoprotein whose mRNA is regulated by the mitogenic pathways in dog thyroid cells. *European Journal of Biochemistry / FEBS*, 248(3), 660–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/9342215
- Worgall, T. S., Sturley, S. L., Seo, T., Osborne, T. F., & Deckelbaum, R. J. (1998). Polyunsaturated fatty acids decrease expression of promoters with sterol regulatory elements by decreasing levels of mature sterol regulatory element-binding protein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(40), 25537–25540.
- Xiao, X., & Song, B. (2013). SREBP: a novel therapeutic target. *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica*, 45(1), 2–10. doi:10.1093/abbs/gms112.Review
- Yalow, B. R. S., & Berson, S. A. (1960). Immunoassay of endogenous plasma insulin in man. J Clin Invest., 39(7), 1157–1175. doi:10.1172/JCI104130
- Yalow, R. S., Glick, S. M., Roth, J., & Berson, S. a. (1965). Plasma insulin and growth hormone levels in obesity and diabetes. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sci*-

*ences*, *131*(1), 357–73. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5216975

- Yamamoto, T., Shimano, H., Inoue, N., Nakagawa, Y., Takahashi, A., Sone, H., & Suzuki, H. (2007). Receptor in the liver protein kinase a suppresses sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c expression via phosphorylation of liver X receptor in the liver. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(16), 11687–11695. doi:10.1074/jbc.
- Yang, W., Dall, T. M., Halder, P., Kowal, S. L., & Hogan, P. F. (2013). Economic costs of diabetes in the U.S. in 2012. *Diabetes Care*, 36(4), 1033–46. doi:10.2337/dc12-2625
- Yang, X., Ongusaha, P. P., Miles, P. D., Havstad, J. C., Zhang, F., So, W. V., ... Evans, R. M. (2008). Phosphoinositide signalling links O-GlcNAc transferase to insulin resistance. *Nature*, 451(7181), 964–9. doi:10.1038/nature06668
- Yao, X.-H., & Grégoire Nyomba, B. L. (2007). Abnormal glucose homeostasis in adult female rat offspring after intrauterine ethanol exposure. *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 292(5), R1926–33. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00822.2006
- Yea, S. S., & Fruman, D. A. (2011). New mTOR Targets Grb Attention. *Science*, 332 (June), 1270–1271. doi:10.1126/science.1208071
- Yellaturu, C. R., Deng, X., Park, E. a, Raghow, R., & Elam, M. B. (2009). Insulin enhances the biogenesis of nuclear sterol regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP)-1c by posttranscriptional down-regulation of Insig-2A and its dissociation from SREBP cleavage-activating protein (SCAP).SREBP-1c complex. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(46), 31726–34. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.050914
- Young, F. G. (1957). Claude Bernard and the discovery of glycogen; a century of retrospect. *British Medical Journal*, 1(5033), 1431–7. Retrieved from http:// www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=1973429&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Zhang, W., Liu, J., Tian, L., Liu, Q., Fu, Y., & Garvey, W. T. (2013). TRIB3 mediates glucose-induced insulin resistance via a mechanism that requires the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway. *Diabetes*, 62(12), 4192–4200. doi:10.2337/db13-0312
- Zhoua, J., Huanga, K., & Lei, X. G. (2013). Selenium and diabetes evidence from animal studies. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 1–20. doi:10.1016/ j.biotechadv.2011.08.021.Secreted